Antioch University

AURA - Antioch University Repository and Archive

Dissertations	& Theses
----------------------	----------

Student & Alumni Scholarship, including Dissertations & Theses

2020

Internet Addiction and the Relationship to Self and Interpersonal Functioning Within the Alternative Model for Personality Disorders (AMPD): Implications for Psychosocial Development

Lori L. Woehler Antioch University Seattle

Follow this and additional works at: https://aura.antioch.edu/etds

Part of the Psychiatry and Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Woehler, L. L. (2020). Internet Addiction and the Relationship to Self and Interpersonal Functioning Within the Alternative Model for Personality Disorders (AMPD): Implications for Psychosocial Development. https://aura.antioch.edu/etds/619

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Student & Alumni Scholarship, including Dissertations & Theses at AURA - Antioch University Repository and Archive. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations & Theses by an authorized administrator of AURA - Antioch University Repository and Archive. For more information, please contact hhale@antioch.edu, wmcgrath@antioch.edu.

INTERNET ADDICTION AND THE RELATIONSHIP TO SELF AND INTERPERSONAL FUNCTIONING WITHIN THE ALTERNATIVE MODEL FOR PERSONALITY DISORDERS (AMPD): IMPLICATIONS FOR PSYCHOSOCIAL DEVELOPMENT

A Dissertation

Presented to the Faculty of

Antioch University Seattle

In partial fulfillment for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PSYCHOLOGY

by

Lori Woehler

ORCID Scholar No. 0000-0003-2353-6521

June 2020

INTERNET ADDICTION AND THE RELATIONSHIP TO SELF AND INTERPERSONAL

FUNCTIONING WITHIN THE ALTERNATIVE MODEL FOR PERSONALITY

DISORDERS (AMPD): IMPLICATIONS FOR PSYCHOSOCIAL DEVELOPMENT

This dissertation, by Lori Woehler, has been approved by the committee members signed below who recommend that it be accepted by the faculty of Antioch University Seattle in partial fulfillment of requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PSYCHOLOGY

Dissertation Committee:

Christopher L. Heffner, PsyD, PhD Chairperson

Michael J. Sakuma, PhD

Jeffrey E. Hansen, PhD

Date

Copyright © 2020 by Lori L. Woehler

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

INTERNET ADDICTION AND THE RELATIONSHIP TO SELF AND INTERPERSONAL FUNCTIONING WITHIN THE ALTERNATIVE MODEL FOR PERSONALITY DISORDERS (AMPD): IMPLICATIONS FOR PSYCHOSOCIAL DEVELOPMENT

Lori L. Woehler

Antioch University Seattle

Seattle, WA

Internet addictive use inclusive of inextricably interconnected mobile devices, applications, and social media predicts diminished Self and Interpersonal functioning. Internet addiction research is burdened by conflicting theoretical views, lack of standardized definitions and criteria, and the use of assessment measures adapted from those used for substance use disorders. Alternative and dimensional diagnostic models for internet addiction through a psychosocial developmental lens might further understanding of Internet addiction and reduce challenges which impact the ability to advance research and achieve clinically useful, culturally informed, and evidence-based practices for the assessment and treatment of Internet addiction. This dissertation is available in open access at AURA, http://aura.antioch.edu and Ohio Link ETD Center, https://etd.ohiolink.edu/etd.

Keywords: internet addiction, identity, personality, alternative model personality disorders

Dedication

I dedicate this project to my grandmother who inspired me to follow my dreams, and to my son who motivated me to achieve them.

Acknowledgements

I offer my deepest appreciation for my committee chair Christopher L. Heffner, PsyD, PhD whose unwavering support and encouragement allowed me to experience remarkable joy and passion for learning throughout this process. I offer gratitude to the other members of my committee. Michael J. Sakuma, PhD inspired me to lay the foundation for this project early in my academic journey and shaped my interest in mixed-methodology research. Jeffrey E. Hansen, Ph.D. instilled confidence in me with his unwavering support and constant attention to the clinical implications of this project.

I offer gratitude to Phoenix Raine, PhD, B. J. Bullert, PhD, and Ann B. Blake, PhD who inspired me with their compassion, wisdom, guidance, and individual examples of remarkable educators and mentors.

I gratefully acknowledge my dear friend and colleague Abigail Martin who graciously shared in the suffering and serenity throughout this journey.

Table of Contents

Abstract	iv
Dedication	v
Acknowledgements	vi
List of Figures	xii
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of the Problem	2
Significance of the Study	2
Purpose and Goals of the Study	
Gaps in Research	4
Assumptions	4
Hypotheses	5
Research Questions	5
Future Research	6
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE	7
Addiction	7
Neurophysiology of Addiction	
Etiology of Addiction	
Clinical Profile and Course of Addiction	
Psychological Ramifications of Addiction	

Social and Cultural Factors in Addiction
Addiction Treatment 17
Behavioral Addictions
Internet Addiction
Historical Context
Precursors to Internet Addiction
Conceptualization of Internet Addiction25
Early Research in Internet Addiction27
Internet Addiction Models
Classification of Internet Addiction
Internet Addiction Assessment Measures
Prevalence of Internet Addiction
Features and Associations of Internet Addiction
Adolescents and Internet Addiction
Features, Risk Factors, and Comorbidities Associated with Internet Addiction
Neurobiological Associations with Internet Addiction
Emerging Approaches to Internet Addiction 46
Categorical Diagnostic Models
DSM-5 Alternative Model for Personality Disorders
Psychosocial Development

CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY	53
Sample and Inclusion Criteria	53
Design	53
Data Collection Instruments	56
Internet Addiction Test (IAT)	56
The Level of Personality Functioning Scale – Brief Form 2.0 (LPFS-BF 2.0)	57
Semi-Structured Interview	57
Recruitment	58
Data Collection	59
Data Analysis	60
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	65
Sample Characteristics	65
Descriptive Statistics	67
Inferential Statistics	69
Reflexive Thematic Analysis	69
Latent Theme—"Seeking"	70
Seeking—Basic Trust and Autonomy Theme	71
Seeking—Initiative and Industry Theme	71
Latent Theme—"Suffering"	74
Hypotheses Testing	78

Research Question 1
Research Question 2
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION
Question 1: What relationships exist among internet addiction, self and interpersonal
functioning using the DSM-5 alternative model for personality development (AMPD)? 80
Question 2: How might the experience of Internet addiction in relation to Self and
Interpersonal functioning influence case conceptualization based on the psychosocial theory of
development?
Broad Findings and Themes
Limitations
Strengths
Other Factors for Consideration
Implications
Recommendations for Future Research
Conclusion
References
APPENDIX A Copyright Attribution and Permissions Internet Addiction Test (IAT) 116
APPENDIX B Informed Consent 121

List of Tables

Table 2.1 Dimensions Within the Alternative Model for Personality Disorders	50
Table 4.1 Sample Gender Characteristics	66
Table 4.2 Sample Age Group and Gender Characteristics	66
Table 4.3 Sample Socioeconomic Status and Gender Group Characteristics	67
Table 4.4 Descriptive Statistics for Variables Internet Addiction, Self-Functioning, and	
Interpersonal Functioning	68
Table 4.5 Intercorrelations for Study Variables Internet Addiction and Self Functioning	69

List of Figures

Figure 4.1 Gender Representation in Socioeconomic Status
Figure 4.2 Primary Themes Within the Overarching Experience of Seeking in Internet Addiction
Figure 4.3 Primary Themes Within the Overarching Experience of Suffering in Internet
Addiction

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

Behavioral addictions have been increasingly studied since pathological gambling was initially included in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM) 3rd edition, in 1980. The DSM-5 recognizes just one addictive behavior—Gambling Disorder (GA), which is categorized as a substance-related disorder within Addiction and Related Disorders (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013). The concept of Internet Addiction as a behavioral disorder similar to gambling disorder was initially conceptualized in 1996 (Young, 2004). The DSM-5 references Internet Gaming Disorder in Appendix III, noting the need for additional study and potential for future inclusion within Addiction and Related Disorders. The DSM-5 also introduced dimensional aspects to substance use disorders and the Alternative Model for Personality Disorders based on the dimensions of Self and Interpersonal Functioning.

Eysenck (1997) suggested that personality traits contribute prominently to vulnerability in all types of addiction. Research suggests positive correlations between personality trait dimensions of neuroticism (We et al., 2015; Yan et al., 2014), psychoticism (Ying et al., 2015); and impulsivity (Burnay et al., 2015; Floros et al., 2014); negative correlations to openness to new experiences, conscientiousness, extraversion, and agreeableness (Cao & Su, 2007; Kayis et al., 2016; Xiuqin et al., 2010). Early studies indicate the character dimension of self-directedness might predict internet addiction (Montag et al., 2010, 2017; Sariyska et al., 2014) and warrants further consideration in research and potential treatment of internet addiction (Montag & Reuter, 2017). To date, research does not show the relationship between internet addiction and Self and Interpersonal Functioning through the DSM-5 Alternative Model for Personality Disorders (AMPD). Thus, the research study proposed in this dissertation aims to explore relationships

1

between internet addiction and Self and Interpersonal Functioning through the DSM-5 AMPD and potential implications for psychosocial development.

Statement of the Problem

Internet and other behavioral addictions are constrained by inconsistent definitions (Griffiths, 2005), categorical diagnostic models (APA, 2000), diagnostic criteria developed for substance abuse (Starcevik, 2016), and concerns about the potential for over-pathologizing everyday behaviors (Billieux et al., 2015). There are no formal alternative or dimensional models for internet or other behavioral addictions (APA, 2013; World Health Organization [WHO], 2019). Thus, clinical assessment, diagnosis, and treatment of internet and other behavioral addictions are impaired by the lack of valid measures, reliable criteria, and evidence-based practice all of which raise ethical questions. The current approach to internet addiction also lacks multicultural and social justice sensitivity because people who have financial resources or other means are able to access goods and services that might help them to relieve their suffering.

Significance of the Study

Historically, sociocultural factors influenced opinions and approaches to excessive behaviors as indicators of moral failings (Sripada & Railton, 2019). Behavioral addiction nosology has been shaped by a multitude of theoretical approaches and studies that conceptualized addiction etiology from impulsion, compulsion, habit, tolerance, avoidance, hereditary, and neurobiological factors (Grant, Potenza, Weinstein, & Gorelick, 2010). Advances in radiographic technology in the past decade have led to increased understanding of addiction circuitry in the brain (Volkow, Wang, Fowler, & Tomasi, 2012) detection of brain structure, mass, and neurochemical response variations in those experiencing behavioral addiction (Boileau et al., 2012; Joutsa, Saunavaara, Parkkola, Niemela, & Kaasinen, 2011; Zois et al., 2017). However, despite these advances, there are no standardized criteria for clinical assessment and diagnosis of internet addiction disorders (APA, 2013; WHO, 2019). Understanding the relationships between Internet Addiction and Self and Interpersonal Functioning might contribute to efforts to conceptualize Internet Addiction and standardize diagnostic criteria using dimensional diagnostic models.

Purpose and Goals of the Study

The purpose of this study is to explore the relationships between internet addiction and self and interpersonal functioning. Specifically, it seeks to understand how internet addiction is experienced in regards to self-identity and self-direction within the construct of Self, and empathy and intimacy within the construct of Interpersonal functioning. Further, this study seeks to understand how these relationships are experienced in the context of a psychosocial development theory. My interest and approach to this research topic are influenced by my previous experiences working in the technology industry, family history of multiple substance addiction, practicum exposure to populations experiencing co-occurring disorders, and passion to pursue emerging and translational research to advance clinical practice for disorders that are not adequately addressed by categorical diagnostic models.

While there is considerable research that correlates relationships between personality traits and internet addiction, most studies represent small sample sizes, focus on individual trait exploration within a cultural context, and employ a range of personality frameworks (Montag & Reuter, 2017). Initial studies suggest self-directedness plays a role in internet addiction (Montag et al., 2010; Sariyska et al., 2014) and warrants further study of its potential in research and treatment (Montag & Reuter, 2017). The goal of this study therefore is to advance understanding of internet addiction through exploration of its relationship to Self and Interpersonal Functioning

using a statistically sound model working with valid measures to demonstrate the use of an alternative, dimensional model for internet addiction.

Gaps in Research

There are no studies that demonstrate empirically that internet addiction fulfills categorical criteria for disorder designation (APA, 2013; WHO, 2019). Experimental evidence has not been identified to determine causality of relationships between internet addiction, self and interpersonal functioning and manipulating independent variables in this study are not practical and might introduce ethical challenges. Further, internet addiction literature lacks exploration of alternative and dimensional models of diagnosis. Finally, a psychosocial development theory remains to be explored in the context of the limited evidence base for treatment of internet addiction demonstrated to be effective with both adolescent and adult populations.

Assumptions

Assumptions are statements taken for granted or considered true, even though they have not been scientifically tested (Walker, 2012). The assumptions for this study are as follows:

- 1. A population of 250 people who exhibit clinically relevant symptoms of internet addiction can be recruited through the Prolific research platform.
- 2. There are relationships between internet addiction and self and interpersonal functioning.
- The Prolific platform will continue to operate and fulfill legal and contractual obligations to fulfill regulatory standards for data and privacy protection to the standard required for 45 CFR 46.101(b) Categories of Exempt Human Subjects Research.
- The Categories of Exempt Human Subjects Research established in 45 CFR 46.101(b) will not change prior to completion of this study.

Hypotheses

H1: Internet addiction will be related to diminished self-functioning as measured by the Internet Addiction Test (IAT) and the DSM-5 Alternative Model for Personality Disorders.

H2: Internet addiction will be related to diminished interpersonal functioning as measured by the Internet Addiction Test (IAT) and the DSM-5 Alternative Model for Personality Disorders.

Research Questions

Mixed methods research approaches provide capacity to consider different aspects of research questions (Teddlie & Tashakorri, 2009). The design reflects consideration for mixed methodology research as a distinct integration of quantitative and qualitative data collection, analysis, deductive and inductive understanding that can produce more comprehensive research questions, more dependable/reliable data, expanded options for data analysis, improved inference quality (internal validity/credibility) and transferability (external validity; Creswell & Clark, 2017).

The following combination of quantitative and qualitative research questions allow for consideration of different aspects of research through deductive understanding followed by inductive exploration of the connections in the experience of internet addiction, self, and interpersonal functioning. Specifically:

RQ1: What relationships exist among internet addiction, self and interpersonal functioning using the DSM-5 alternative model for personality development (AMPD)? RQ2: How might the experience of internet addiction in relation to self and interpersonal functioning influence case conceptualization based on the psychosocial theory of development?

Future Research

While determination of causality of relationships between internet addiction, self and interpersonal functioning is outside the scope of this study, positive or negative correlations might inform theories of internet addiction and further predictive or experimental research.

CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Addiction

The current edition of the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 5th ed. (DSM-5) organizes substance-related and addictive disorders based on 10 substance classes: alcohol, caffeine, cannabis, hallucinogens, inhalants, opioids, sedatives/hypnotics/anxiolytics, stimulants, tobacco, and other/unknown (APA, 2013). Diagnoses of Intoxication, Disorder, Withdrawal, Other -Induced Disorder, or Unspecified -Related Disorder can be applied to each of these 10 substances except for Caffeine, which is not eligible for a Use Disorder diagnosis (APA, 2013). Addiction refers to a chronically relapsing disease of the brain that involves physiological and molecular changes to the underlying brain structure and neural systems involved in reward, motivation, and memory as a result of prolonged exposure to an addictive agent (Leshner, 1997).

Addiction is characterized by impaired behavioral control, craving, loss of control and inability to abstain from substance use, diminished recognition of one's significant responsibilities and problems with interpersonal relationships, dysfunctional emotional responses, and continued substance use despite knowing about the problems that it causes (American Society of Addiction Medicine [ASAM], 2011; APA, 2013). Addiction is progressive; without treatment or participation in recovery activities addiction can result in disability or premature death (Center for Substance Abuse Treatment [CSAT], 2006).

This pathological pattern of addictive behavior is positively reinforced by substance-induced euphoria and negatively reinforced by increasing physiological distress in the absence of substance use (Volkow & Morales, 2005). Drugs and substances of abuse produce changes to the brain's underlying neurophysiology and impair neural pathways involved in the systems and processes of motivation, reward, and inhibitory control (Volkow & Li, 2005). These changes also affect decision-making and self-regulation, which contribute to addictive behaviors. Substance abuse can cause persistent, irrevocable changes to the brain's structure and underlying biochemical or neurophysiological processes (Volkow & Morales, 2015).

The study of addiction has been influenced by contributions from diverse disciplines with conflicting views of its etiology and even the definition (Shaffer, 1986). The prevailing medical model characterizes addiction as a primary, progressive, terminal illness (Wakefield, 2017). Sociological models reflect views of publicly unacceptable and morally deviant behaviors (Conrad & Schneider, 1992). Critics of the disease model argue that it limits reconciliation of developmental and learning aspects of addiction (Lewis, 2017). Addiction researchers have argued that approaching the problem through the construct of addiction can limit the ability to consider alternative explanations that provide value (Gambino & Shaffer, 1979; Shaffer, 1986). Concerns have been raised for the potential implications of considering addictions from such narrow perspectives (Kardefelt-Winther, 2017; King & Delfabbro, 2014; Shaffer, 1986).

Neurophysiology of Addiction

The common factor in addiction is activation and modification of the circuits, behavioral, and synaptic mechanisms underlying the mesolimbic reward system in the brain (Volkow et al., 2012). Addictive substances activate this system by increasing levels of the neurotransmitter dopamine (DA) through a combination of increased synthesis and release or inhibition of DA reuptake (Volkow, Koob, & McLellan, 2016). When dopamine neurons (DA) in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) increase in response to the addictive substance, DA levels reach the nucleus accumbens (NAc) which initiates a motivational state of desire and expectation. (Volkow et al., 2012). The amount and frequency of DA release varies in response to different substances and their routes of administration (Sussman, 2017). Faster routes of administration such as intravenous injection produce a more intense reward effect. Therefore, faster routes of administration produce more addictive effects on the reward system than slower routes like oral administration. Higher frequency of DA release increases the strength of cortico-striatal synapses and glutaminergic mechanisms involved in embedding cues associated with substance use in the amygdala (Volkow, Koob, & McLellan, 2016).

DA signals engage ventral striatal pathways involved in modulation of reward and motivation (Volkow et al., 2012). DA receptor stimulation of the indirect ventral striatal pathway mediates reward while inhibition of the direct striatal pathway reduces avoidant response (Volkow & Morales, 2015). The fast DA release associated with the "high" of drug abuse generates a reinforcing effect when levels and frequency are sufficient to activate both the direct and indirect ventral striatal pathways (Volkow et al., 2012). This effect leads to stimuli associated with drug use becoming conditioned, resulting in DA release in response to conditioned co-exposure signals the expectation of reward (Volkow & Morales, 2015) which manifests as the intense craving that is observed in addiction (APA, 2013).

Studies have shown that craving is related to substance availability as opposed to how long the user has been without the substance (Dar et al., 2010). Following exposure to the CS, increased activity in the dopaminergic system contributes to motivation for compulsive substance seeking (Volkow & Morales, 2015). Substance abusers also exhibit impaired orbital frontal cortex functioning in circuitry that promotes behavior based on perceived value of expected outcomes, resulting in impaired judgement and poor decision-making (Schoenbaum & Shaham, 2008). In addition to DA, other neurotransmitters such as glutamate, gamma-Aminobutyric acid (GABA), serotonin and various neuropeptides are involved in abnormal functioning in brain circuits (Egervari, Ciccocioppo, Jentsch, & Hurd, 2018). Imaging studies of substance abusers have identified abnormal activity not only in the mesolimbic system, but also in the orbitofrontal cortex and anterior cingulate gyrus (Fowler, Volkow, Kassed, & Chang, 2007). These regions are involved in salience attribution and inhibitory control which are involved in compulsive behavior and disinhibition observed in addiction. Increased use of addictive substances causes corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) levels in cerebrospinal fluid to rise, activating the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA) and amygdala which are involved in regulation of stress hormones, contributing to the addictive process and progression of addiction disorders (Volkow & Morales, 2015).

Addiction progression is further complicated by unique neurobiological effects of drugs of abuse (Egervari et al., 2018). With natural reinforcers such as sex, DA signals triggered by the CS will stop when the reinforcer is procured (e.g., when sex is initiated;Volkow & Morales, 2015). However, in drugs of abuse, DA signals will continue to fire after the substance is procured and will continue to fire throughout consumption causing unrelenting triggers of craving and sustaining motivation to continue to use (Volkow & Morales, 2015). These recently discovered neurobiological effects help to explain how drugs of abuse generate much more powerful addictive responses than natural reinforcers, essentially hijacking and overwhelming volitional mechanisms of reinforcement and inhibition.

Etiology of Addiction

The study of addiction has evolved over the past decade with advances in non-invasive neuroimaging, most notably in functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) to understand

brain structures and the states of neuropathways, neurotransmitters, receptors, and enzymes involved in synthesis and metabolism (Adinoff, 2004; Volkow et al., 2010). As a result of these advances, addiction is commonly believed to arise from a complex interaction of polygenic and environmental risk factors that influence vulnerability and resilience to onset and development of addiction (Fowler et al., 2007; Volkow, Wang, Fowler & Tomasi, 2012). Studies estimate that 10-40% of people who experiment with various drugs of abuse will go on to become addicted (Van Etten & Anthony, 1999; APA, 2015; Vsevolozhskaya & Anthony, 2016). Heritability of addiction ranges between 40-70%, with alcohol at 50%, cocaine and opiates 60%-70% (Goldman, Oroszi, & Ducci, 2005).

However, it is not yet understood why some individuals who are exposed to addictive substances go on to become addicted whereas others do not (Volkow et al., 2012). No single factor has yet been identified to definitively predict addiction (Volkow & Morales, 2015). Research using animal models, genome-wide association and linkage analysis determined that chromosomes 4, 5, 9-11, 15, and 17 play a role in genetic vulnerability to addiction (Li & Burmeister, 2009). Common genetic variations and polymorphisms in neurotransmitters such as Dopamine (DA), in GABAergic genes involved in the glucocorticoid response and GABA—the most abundant inhibitory neurotransmitter, and in enzymes such as aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH2) predict vulnerability to alcohol, cannabis, cocaine, and other substances of abuse (Palmer et al., 2015).

Some genetic variations appear to increase the risk of developing addiction only in those individuals who have experienced significant stress, particularly in childhood (Heath & Nelson, 2002). Experiencing childhood maltreatment such as physical, sexual, or emotional abuse and cumulative stress—particularly in early childhood, predicts early-onset adolescent drinking and

adult alcohol and substance use disorders (Enoch, 2011). Exposure to early-life stress disrupts the hypothalamic pituitary adrenal (HPA) axis and glucocorticoid signaling, both of which affect homeostatic cortisol levels (Enoch, 2011; Lee et al., 2014). Dysregulation of the HPA axis results in epigenetic effects on the genes that regulate activity within the axis which results in persistent, long-term, and potentially irreversible changes in the neurodevelopmental processes of neurotransmitter regulation in the mesolimbic dopamine reward pathways (Brunson, Chen, Avishai-Eliner, & Baram, 2003).

Addiction and mental illness are frequently co-occurring, with some conditions such as anxiety, depression, and schizophrenia more commonly emerging prior to onset of substance abuse (APA, 2015; Sussman, 2017). People who experience mental illness are more likely to engage in substance use and develop addiction (APA, 2015; Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration [SAMHSA], 2018). Since most people now live in a state where marijuana is either legal for recreational use or available for medical use (National Institute on Drug Abuse [NIDA], 2019), people who previously relied on alcohol might now instead choose to use marijuana as a coping mechanism.

People who are genetically vulnerable to particular addictions or specific mental illness who also engage in experimental substance use might inadvertently trigger or worsen a mental health condition (Volkow & Morales, 2015). Studies have shown that cannabis use increases the risk of developing psychosis and it is associated with earlier onset of psychosis, particularly in frequent and high-potency cannabis users (Di Forti et al., 2014). These factors underscore the importance of collecting and maintaining a full client history that includes medication and recreational substance use in order to recognize and address potential vulnerabilities and risks with clients.

Clinical Profile and Course of Addiction

The clinical profile of addiction reflects a pattern of pathological behaviors characterized by distinctive signs, symptoms, and progression as the disorder advances (APA, 2013; ASAM, 2013). The DSM-5 bases substance use disorder diagnosis on 11 criteria common to all substances (APA, 2013). Formal diagnosis requires at least two of these 11 criteria are met within a 12-month period. The DSM-5 describes criteria 1-4 as Impaired Control which consists of (a) substance use in larger amounts over longer-than-intended periods; (b) persistent desire or unsuccessful efforts to reduce or stop substance use; and (c) time dedicated to obtain, use, or recovery from the effects; and (d) the strong desire to use referred to as "craving." Clients exhibiting Impaired Control symptoms experience impaired executive control which can contribute to their inability to recognize substance use problems and to seek help (Volkow & Morales, 2015).

As substance use progresses, behaviors result in symptoms characterized as Social Impairment (APA, 2013). At this point, addictive behaviors could lead friends, family, and coworkers to recognize the substance user is experiencing impaired cognition, decreased memory, and personality shifts such as increased irritability. These symptoms might not be attributed to substance use, particularly in groups where substance use and intoxication are commonly observed. Diagnostic criteria consist of: (e) failure to fulfill major role obligations at work, school, or home; (f) persistent or recurrent social or interpersonal problems caused or complicated by substance use; (g) substance use is the cause for important social, occupational, or recreational activities to be reduced or abandoned. People at this stage of addiction might experience irreparable harm to their interpersonal relationships, occupational standing, and earning capacity (Stanger & Weber, 2019; Sussman, 2017). Advanced stages of addiction are categorized as Pharmacological (APA, 2013), which is indicative of the user's experience of addiction symptoms reflected in criteria: (h) tolerance to the effects of the substance, which requires increasing amounts or frequency of substance use in order to achieve similar effects; and (i) withdrawal, a syndrome in which physiological and psychological distress occur when there is a decline of substance levels in the blood or tissue concentrations after prolonged, heavy substance use (APA, 2013). Withdrawal symptoms might range from imperceptible changes in mood or affect to significant alterations in neurobiological and cognitive functioning that might require immediate and long-term medical intervention (Center for Substance Abuse Treatment, 2006).

Psychological factors that might influence the clinical presentation of addiction include history of insecure attachment, impaired identity development, intrusive or maladaptive thoughts, impaired ability to self-regulate, and limited problem-solving or coping skills are involved in addiction (Eysenck, 1997; Sussman, 2017). Substance use commonly serves as a coping mechanism to manage a wide variety of individual, social, and interpersonal challenges (Giedd, Keshavan, & Paus, 2008; Sussman, 2017).

For example, clients who experience anxiety, emotional reactivity, or elevated response during emotionally salient interactions or in certain environments such as work, social events, family conflict, or intimacy might choose to use substances to help them manage. Another example is the increasing use of addictive pharmaceutical substances to enhance cognitive performance, despite mixed results in studies that measure their actual benefits (Farah, Smith, Ilieva, & Hamilton, 2014). These factors underscore the importance of gaining a thorough understanding of a client's history of substance use and their attitudes toward prioritizing substance use over other coping mechanisms to manage their perceived psychological distress. Personality traits and temperaments of high novelty and sensation seeking, low harm avoidance, negative affectivity, and need for external validation have been associated with substance abuse (Skewes & Gonzalez, 2013). People experiencing addiction also exhibit elevated emotional reactivity, impulsivity, proneness to stress, and negative affect (Davis & Loxton, 2013). Therefore, substance users who struggled with psychological problems before experiencing the added burden of early stage addiction symptoms might be particularly vulnerable to the effects of loss of control and craving. Early signs of addiction might also be mistakenly attributed to other mental health problems such as anxiety and insomnia.

Psychological Ramifications of Addiction

The psychological ramifications of addiction arise from the move from ego-syntonic behaviors that fit to existing personal values, beliefs, and goals to ego-dystonic behaviors of addiction that conflict with one's previous view of self and self in relation to others (Flanagan, 2019). It appears, additional psychological ramifications might arise from sources such as self-criticism, loss of social supports, sense of betrayal or abandonment, and feelings of confusion, shame, and hopelessness. There is also an enormous psychological burden for people who are addicted to navigate through social and cultural attitudes and practices that marginalize their condition with pejorative, stigmatizing connotations that cast judgement for perceived moral failings (Larkin, Wood, & Griffiths, 2006).

As a result of experiencing addiction, the person is essentially no longer who they and others hoped, planned, or expected them to be (Flanagan, 2019). Conceptually, psychological experiences of addiction invoke elements of death and the process of grieving loss of the self/ego, as well as rebirth in redefining one's purpose and values, and the struggle to find meaning, purpose, and hope in the face of overwhelming challenges.

Social and Cultural Factors in Addiction

Recent studies report that 8-10% of people age 12 or older in the United States approximately 22 million people, are addicted to alcohol or other drugs (SAMHSA, 2018). The collective cost of addiction in the United States reached \$171.7B in 2009 and is projected to reach \$280.5B in 2020 with industry growth projected at a rate of 4.6% annually (SAMSHA, 2014). Reports indicate that between 1999–2017 over 700,000 people died from drug overdose; 68% of the 70,200 deaths in 2017 involved opioids (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2017; Scholl et al., 2018). According to these reports, 130 Americans die each day from opioid abuse—more than were killed in the entire Vietnam War.

The Centers for Disease Control (CDC) and the U. S. Surgeon General called attention to reported declines in life expectancy—the first in many years, with attention to the "opioid crisis" (Rutkow & Vernick, 2017). The United States Attorney General, CDC, and other government agencies have embarked on efforts to increase awareness, prevention, and intervention to allocate congressional funding for federal and state efforts to address the "opioid epidemic" at levels last seen at the height of the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) crisis (CDC, 2018). Social, cultural, and economic factors that contributed to the current crisis indicate actions on the part of commercial, government, and healthcare industry elements were primarily motivated by some combination of financial and power/influence incentives (deShazo, Johnson, Eriator, & Rodenmeyer, 2018).

During the earliest days of the AIDS crisis (AIDS.gov, 2016) a story appeared in the New York Times (Leland, 2017) about Larry Kramer, who in 1981 organized a meeting of 80 gay men at his New York City apartment and raised \$6600.00 to fund research by Dr. Alvin E. Friedman-Kien. Dr. Friedman-Kien, a dermatologist, was diagnosing young gay men with idiopathic Kaposi Sarcoma before AIDS had been identified. Larry later went on to co-found the activist group AIDS Coalition to Unleash Power (ACT UP). Leland (2017) opened the article with a description of a 1991 incident in which Larry inspired a group of fellow activists with his screaming outburst, "Plague! We are in the middle of a plague! . . . Until we get our acts together, all of us, we are as good as dead." This is an example of effective partnership between social awareness and research efforts to draw attention, to produce quality research, and to achieve results despite the lack of formal support or endorsement from established government or academic institutions.

Addiction Treatment

Treatment for addiction, as with other chronic diseases, focuses on helping clients to counteract the immediate short-term and long-term negative effects of damage caused by chronic substance use, as opposed to working toward a cure (ASAM, 2013; NIDA, 2007). Addiction treatment involves interventions that address physical dependence and psychological issues associated with the addiction, to include behavioral problems and social factors that contributed to or arose from the addiction (ASAM, 2013; CSAT, 2006). There are a variety of addiction treatment models and evidence-based practices for delivery in a range of settings based on each person's status and needs (SAMHSA, 2018).

The immediate priority in addiction treatment for chronic substance abuse is detoxification, "detox", to reduce systemic levels of addictive substance to a healthier level (ASAM, 2013). The *Detoxification and substance abuse treatment - treatment improvement protocol (TIP) Series 45* recommends hospitalization or some other form of 24-hour medical care. The goal of medical care is to manage the risks associated with rapid discontinuation in which withdrawal symptoms for alcohol, sedatives, and opiates can lead to fatal reactions

(SAMHSA, 2018). Evidence indicates that people who have previously gone through withdrawal are at greater risk of experiencing increased withdrawal symptom severity such as seizures, delirium tremens, and decreased responsiveness to pharmacological interventions in subsequent withdrawals (ASAM, 2013; NIDA, 2007).

Numerous best practices and guidelines for addiction treatment recommend integrated, multidiscipline approaches that deliver evidence-based, patient-centered interventions (ASAM, 2013; CSAT, 2006; SAMSHA, 1999; The Management of Substance Use Disorders Work Group [MSUDWG], 2015). Some models adhere to patient-centered care that emphasizes individualized treatment approaches which are based on each patient's unique needs, capabilities, goals, and preferences (ASAM, 2013; MSUDWG, 2015). Evidence substantiates that patient-centered care contributes to increases in patient trust, decreases in anxiety, improved treatment adherence, and cost containment resulting from decreased need for access to health services (Bertakis & Azari, 2011; MSUDWG, 2015).

Addiction treatment models commonly involve some combination of attention to motivation, behavior, and systems to promote therapeutic relationships, to help clients improve their readiness and self-efficacy for change, to strengthen coping skills, to reinforce existing resources, and to improve social supports for recovery (Stanger & Weber, 2019). Two of the most prominent therapeutic approaches to addiction treatment are Motivational Interviewing (Miller & Rollnick, 2013; Miller, Taylor, & West, 1980) and Seeking Safety (Najavits, 1999). Motivational interviewing is based on the Transtheoretical Model which is also referred to as the Stages of Change Model (Prochaska & DiClemente, 1989, 2002, 2004). This model, developed through research working with people addicted to smoking, observes that people approach the process of change gradually. According to the Stages of Change Model, the process of undergoing change involves progression through a predictable series of six stages, each of which represents a particular belief about change and level of readiness for change. The six stages are Precontemplation, Contemplation, Preparation, Action, Maintenance, and Relapse. Motivational interviewing is a highly structured approach to therapeutic focus, rapport building, and engagement to help clients change their perceptions about their current behaviors and risks, to contemplate the possibility of change, to prepare for and act to effect change, and to maintain the effects of change in order to prevent relapse (Stanger & Weber, 2019). VA and DoD guidelines for substance use treatment call for the use of motivational interviewing in all patient encounters (MSUDWG, 2015).

Cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) is perhaps the most widely adopted evidence-based treatment for addiction (Stanger & Weber, 2019). CBT treatment goals focus on helping clients to better manage their problems by changing the way they think and behave in order to reduce affective negativity and to improve goal attainment (CSAT, 2006). Seeking Safety is an evidence-based psychotherapeutic approach to CBT adapted for treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and substance abuse (Najavits, 1999, 2002, 2012). In this model, the guiding principle and first goal of treatment is safety, which encompasses work on 25 specific topics using CBT methods to help clients to discontinue substance use, reduce risks such as suicidality and exposure to human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), to let go of dangerous relationships, and to gain control over extreme behaviors such as dissociation and self-harm (Najavits, 2012).

According to Najavits (1999, 2002, 2012), these self-destructive behaviors are re-enactments of trauma experiences, particularly those experienced through childhood abuse which applies to a large segment of the population diagnosed with PTSD and substance use disorders. The Seeking Safety approach to treatment conceptualizes that even though the trauma might have happened long ago, clients treat themselves in ways that essentially repeat it, ignore their own needs, and perpetuate their pain—occasionally in the guise of attempting to fulfill immediate impulses (Najavits, 2012). Seeking safety essentially represents the work to help patients to free themselves from their maladaptive behavior and, through that process, to free themselves from deeply held trauma.

A number of other therapeutic approaches such as 12-step groups and mindfulness-based approaches have demonstrated efficacy to reduce the likelihood of relapse and to shorten time between relapse and return to sobriety (Witkiewitz, Bowen, Douglas, & Hsu, 2013). Pharmacological research and emerging addiction treatments emphasize approaches that combine behavioral interventions with drugs to mitigate or compensate for damage to brain circuitry for reward, motivation, learning, executive function, and inhibitory control (Volkow & Li, 2005).

Treatment of Internet Addiction and other behavioral disorders appears effective in managing compulsive behaviors in the short term, however there is a lack of rigorous clinical trials (Goslar et al., 2020). CBT has demonstrated efficacy in treatment of addiction to online video gaming (Kaptsis et al., 2016; King et al., 2010; Young, 2013). Most protocols published for internet gaming disorder rely on substance use disorder treatment protocols with little focus on generalizability or efficacy of treatment (King, 2017). Some case studies about individual and small group treatment outcomes claim efficacy through treatment that combines pharmacotherapy intervention with methylphenidate and buproprion in conjunction with counseling, and motivational interviewing via online software (King et al., 2011).

Behavioral Addictions

In 1992, the World Health Organization (WHO, 1992) identified habit and impulse disorders characterized by repeated acts associated with uncontrollable impulses, with no clear rational motivation that generally harm the person's own and others' interests. The DSM-IV-TR expanded on these impulse control disorders with a description of increased tension preceding or when resisting the behavior, followed by pleasure, gratification, or tension relief (APA, 2000). Behavioral addiction nosology has been shaped by a multitude of theoretical approaches and studies that conceptualized addiction etiology from impulsion, compulsion, habit, tolerance, avoidance, hereditary, and neurobiological factors (Grant, Potenza, Weinstein, & Gorelick, 2010). Advances in radiographic technology in the past decade have led to increased understanding of addiction circuitry in the brain (Volkow, Wang, Fowler, & Tomasi, 2012). Brain structure, mass, and neurochemical response variations have been detected in those experiencing behavioral addiction (Boileau et al., 2012; Joutsa, Saunavaara, Parkkola, Niemela, & Kaasinen, ,2011; Zois et al., 2017).

The DSM-5 introduced several changes to categories of diagnostic criteria and codes which affect behavioral addictions (APA, 2013). The DSM-IV category Impulse Control Disorders (ICD) was eliminated entirely and disorders in that category were redistributed. This change led to the ICD-11 Working Group on Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders reconsideration of the ICD-10 groups. After review of scientific evidence and clinical utility of the DSM-5 approach, the Working Group chose to retain a group of Impulse Control Disorders (WHO, 2019) in ICD-11. The DSM-5 change resulted in redistribution of Gambling Disorder to

Non-substance-related Disorder—the only disorder in that category. There are no diagnostic criteria or codes for Other or Unspecified Other Non-Substance-Related Disorder in the DSM-5 (APA, 2013). The previous DSM-IV category of Substance-related Abuse and Dependency was changed to Substance-Related and Addictive Disorders with two sub-divisions: substance-related disorders and non-substance-related disorders. Non-substance-related disorders, defined as addictions that do not involve ingestion of a psychoactive substances, are commonly referred to as behavioral addiction (Kardefelt-Winther, 2017).

Internet Addiction

Historical Context

An understanding of the evolution of Internet addiction might best be informed by placing it in the context of the history of home computing adoption, the birth of the World Wide Web, and proliferation of Internet use. The first mass-produced, commercially successful home computer—the Altair, named for a Star Trek *Enterprise* destination—was launched to the market in a cover story in the January 1975 issue of *Popular Electronics* (Roberts & Yates, 1975). Home computing became common following the 1981 introduction of the IBM Personal Computer (PC; Halfhill, 1986). The World Wide Web was invented in 1989 by Tim Berners-Lee, a scientist at CERN European Organization for Nuclear Research, to facilitate global information sharing between scientists in universities and institutes (CERN, n.d.). Later in 1989, the first commercial Internet Service Provider (ISP) launched, providing dial-up service (Garfinkle & Grunspan, 2018). In 1991, Berners-Lee announced public availability of the World Wide Web (WWW; CERN, n.d.). In April 1993 CERN released the WWW software into the public domain, making it freely available for anyone to use or to improve.

The global information technology industry is projected to reach \$5.2 trillion in 2020 (International Data Corporation [IDC], n.d.). The technology industry encompasses telecommunication services, technology outsourcing, hardware maintenance, technology consulting, systems integration services, software, communications equipment, and computer equipment. According to IDC, the United States represents 32% of that total—approximately \$1.7 trillion, the largest tech market in the world. Measured as a percentage of gross domestic product, the economic impact of the U.S. technology sector exceeds most other industries (Computing Technology Industry Association [CompTIA], n.d.). Further, CompTIA reports that classification of certain types of technology purchases can be difficult due to increasingly blurred lines between work and personal life.

Proliferation of internet use in the past 30 years has resulted in the United States having the third highest number of Internet users behind China and India, with 88.5% of the population accessing the Internet (Internet Live Stats, 2016). The United States is one of the largest smartphone markets, with over 260 million users which constitutes over 80% of the population (Holst, 2020). Thirty-seven percent of American are online primarily through their smartphones; one in five use smartphones as their primary means of online access at home (Pew Research, 2019). In the United States, 64% of children access the Internet via their own laptop or table and 24% have private access from their bedrooms (Influence Central, 2016). This same study found that half of children have social media accounts by age 12 and use their phones primarily for texting; 31% of parents reported texting with their children when they're in the same home together.
Precursors to Internet Addiction

Anecdotal social commentary in the late 70s and early 80s suggested that long-term computer use could lead to harmful effects. Weizman (1976) allocated an entire chapter in his classic critical analysis, *Computer Power and Human Reason* to express his misgivings about "compulsive programmers." Almost a decade after his seminal work on the Stanford Prison Experiment, Zimbardo (1980) described the cloistered existence of Stanford computer science students. He characterized their rejection of alternative development paths and encounters with the outside world while working silently surrounded by other programmers for much of their early twenties as symptomatic of generational disenchantment. Shallis (1984), a former astrophysicist, warned of social demise arising from the dehumanizing effects of computer usage.

One of the earliest studies in computer addiction involved "dependent" computer users age 14–64 (n = 75) and control groups (Shotten, 1991). Standardized psychometric tests and in-depth interviews about initial computing experiences, and computing and leisure activities were administered to both groups. The study concluded that dependent users reported logical reasons for choosing to interact with computers in order to satisfy their needs, noting "the need to control the computer is neither neurotic or pathological, but provides an admirable means of coping for those who have previously felt inadequately fulfilled" (Shotten, 1991).

The concept of technology addiction was introduced in 1995 by a researcher who had been studying adolescent gambling, slot machine, pinball, video, and computer game playing (Griffiths, 1995, 1996). Griffiths offered an operational definition of technology addiction as a behavior addiction involving human-machine interaction. Griffiths had previously described "amusement machine addiction" (Griffiths, 1998) in comparison to criteria established for other addictions. He conceptualized technology addiction using these same criteria of salience, euphoria, tolerance, withdrawal symptoms, conflict, and relapse.

Conceptualization of Internet Addiction

The concept of internet addiction was first introduced in 1995 as a joke by the late New York psychiatrist Dr. Ivan K. Goldberg (Wallis, 1997). Dr. Goldberg was the founder of <u>www.PsyCom.net</u> —a type of online community known at the time as a "bulletin board" for psychiatrists to communicate and collaborate. Dr. Goldberg jokingly posted parodical criteria and symptoms for Internet Addiction Disorder intended to demonstrate the complexity and rigidity of the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (DSM), then in its 4th edition (American Psychological Association [APA], 1994). The responses by Dr. Goldberg's colleagues unexpectedly contained self-reported symptoms and endorsements for Internet addiction criteria (Wallis, 1997).

In a 1997 interview (Wallis, 1997), two years after his original post, Dr. Goldberg reflected on his redefinition from Internet addiction to pathological Internet-use disorder:

IAD makes it sound as if one were dealing with heroin, a truly addicting substance... To medicalize every behavior by putting it into psychiatric nomenclature is ridiculous. If you expand the concept of addiction to include everything people can overdo, then you must talk about people being addicted to books, etc.

Goldberg's view is particularly noteworthy because pathological gambling—the first behavioral addiction—was first included in the DSM-IV in 1994 (APA, 1994). Inclusion of behavioral addictions in the DSM continued to face widespread scrutiny with endorsement from diverse clinical practitioners (Grüsser et al., 2007; Hagedorn, 2009) and resistance by senior members of

DSM-5 development committees (Frances, 2012). This pressure might easily have presented a carryover effect to emerging behavioral addictions.

Criteria for Internet Addiction were first introduced with a formal presentation at the 104th annual meeting of the American Psychological Association (Young, 1996). Young's study reported that 396 out of 496 self-selected regular Internet users were dependent on the Internet. Young also conducted the first large scale study involving qualitative analysis of 600 case studies of heavy Internet users based on criteria adapted from the DSM-IV for pathological gambling (Young, 1998). Young (2015) later attributed her interest in the subject to the experience of her close friend whose husband spent excessive time online which resulted in financial difficulties, infidelity, and ultimately the demise of the marriage. While the marriage did not survive, Young's work set the foundation for Internet Addiction and fueled a controversy that has continued for almost 25 years of debate about the construct, standardized diagnostic criteria, measurement, and research approaches (Czincz & Hechanova, 2009; Kardefelt-Winther, 2017; Mitchell, 2000; Starcevic & Aboujaoude, 2017; Weinstein & Lejoyeux, 2010)

Young's 1996 report today presents somewhat of a time capsule of computer use during the mid-90s with references to chat rooms, multi-user dungeons (MUDs), virtual bulletin board message systems, and newsgroups. The results of Young's qualitative analysis suggested significant behavioral and functional Internet usage differences between the groups. Specifically, those engaged in excessive use of the Internet reported personal, family, and occupational problems similar to those found in alcoholism, pathological gambling, and eating disorders (Young, 1996).

Working in parallel to Young's research focused on Internet Addiction, Hayes et al. (1996) proposed a dimensional diagnostic model for behavioral addictions to overcome the limitations of the existing categorical model which failed to identify functional pathological processes that allowed for testable, replicable classification systems. The study involved review of a wide range of research, demonstrating that many forms of psychopathology could be conceptualized as unhealthy efforts to escape and avoid painful emotions, thoughts, memories, and private experiences. The authors argued that the experiential avoidance dimension might lead to integrated efforts and findings across a wide variety of research interests, theoretical orientations, and clinical domains in order to advance new approaches to the study and treatment of behavioral addictions.

Early Research in Internet Addiction

In the late 1990s, consumer media, subjective commentary, and introspective personal opinions drew early attention to Internet Addiction more so than academic, peer-reviewed studies (Pratarelli et al., 1999). Rather, at that time, Internet addiction research was composed primarily of case studies, exploratory surveys, and intuitive rationalizations based on descriptive statistics (Grohol, 1999). Increased instances of community-specific population focus (Chou et al., 2005; Douglas et al., 2008) appears to coincide with expanded global interest for the subject among early-career researchers.

Many early studies of Internet addiction were limited by small sample sizes that focused on college students. For example, Black et al. (1999) conducted structured and semi-structured assessments of college students (N = 21) who reported excessive computer use interfered with social or occupational functioning or caused personal distress. Another study involving 20 participants (Shapira et al., 2000) found that all met criteria for an ICD not otherwise specified (NOS) and lifetime history of at least one DSM-IV Axis I diagnosis in addition to their problematic Internet use. Other early studies with more participants relied entirely on descriptive statistics. In a survey of Internet users (N = 563; Brenner, 1997), 55% of participants reported that at some point they spent too much time on the Internet, 28% found it hard to stop thinking about the Internet when offline, and 22% had unsuccessfully attempted to spend time offline. In another study involving 450 college students (Egger & Rauterberg, 1996), 10% self-reported that they considered themselves addicted or dependent on Internet use; however, this group did not report significant levels of addiction-specific symptoms based on criteria for established addictions. Greenfield (1999) reported 6% of people met criteria for Internet addiction based on a 36-item survey about Internet use that was published at the ABC News website.

While the types of early Internet addiction research helped to establish descriptions of how people felt about themselves and their Internet use, they were not by design able to statistically establish relationships between the behaviors and their causes (Grohol, 1999). Early studies lacked reliability testing and relied largely on face validity provided by advocates for Internet addiction who observed concerning behaviors in practice (Pratarelli et al., 1999). The vast majority of studies were limited in focus on college students and privileged white males who had the means to access computing resources (Brenner, 2002; Chou et al., 2005; Scherer, 1997).

Conclusions drawn from these early studies of Internet addiction were arguably purely speculative, subjective in nature, and unsupported by existing data (Grohol, 1999; McKenna & Bargh, 1999). Some early Internet addiction researchers later attributed the inability of Internet addiction to achieve formal disorder status to limitations in research design and execution (Brenner, 2002; Pratarelli et al., 1999). These limitations led to unprecedented and at times highly public criticism of Internet addiction research from the broader research community

which characterized studies as lacking in statistical relevancy and over-reaching in assertions (Caruso, 1998).

Internet Addiction Models

This section is organized by prominent conceptual approaches to Internet addiction. Against the backdrop of controversy and criticism of early Internet addiction research, diagnostic criteria and conceptual models were proposed with a variety of names to reflect the positions of respective researchers. Based on names alone, there is lack of clarity of meaning and differentiation of efforts between Internet addiction (Young, 1996), Internet addiction disorder (Goldberg, 1996), Internet dependency (Scherer, 1997), Pathological internet use (Morahan-Martin & Schumacher, 2000), Problematic Internet Use (PIU; Davis, 2001), and Compulsive Internet use (Caplan, 2002). The variety of definitions and terminology contribute to persistent controversy associated with conflicts between opinions regarding criteria, risks, antecedents, assessment, outcomes, and treatment (Cash et al., 2012; Chou, 2005; Kardefelt-Winther, 2014b).

Criteria for Internet addiction was first proposed (Young, 1998) based on eight of the 10 DSM-IV (APA, 1994) criteria for pathological gambling. Young argued that both conditions shared symptoms of preoccupation, loss of control, and functional impairment. She proposed that five or more of these 8 criteria were required to fulfill diagnostic criteria: (a) cyber-sexual which includes cyberporn, (b) cyber-relationship which entails overinvolvement in online relationships, (c) compulsive online behaviors such as shopping, gambling, and day trading, (d) compulsive web surfing or data searches, and (e) computer addiction inclusive of obsessive computer gaming. Young (1998) reported that problematic internet use might lead to severely disrupted sleep patterns, problematic interpersonal relationships, difficulty engaging in daily tasks, and physical ailments such as back and eye strain. She also suggested that online interactions might compensate for deficiencies in real-life social interactions. Beard and Wolf (2001) later proposed a modification to diagnostic criteria which required the first five criteria in addition to one of the last three. These diagnostic criteria have been repeatedly criticized by other researchers for arbitrarily transposing existing pathological gambling criteria (Grohol, 1999) and disregarding impulse disorder not otherwise specified criteria (APA, 1994; Shapira et al., 2003).

Griffiths (1999) argued that Internet use fueled other addictions. He distinguished addiction to the Internet from engaging in addictive behavior on the Internet (2000a), argued for increased attention to Internet addiction (2000b), explored Internet sex addiction (2001), and online gaming addiction (2007). Griffiths proposed a components model of addiction (2005) wherein distinct factors of salience, mood changes, tolerance, withdrawal, conflict, and replace were considered in the context of a biopsychosocial process. This model was influential in the proliferation of research into Internet addiction (Kuss et al., 2014). In a systematic review of 68 epidemiological studies, Kuss et al. (2014) identified four factors associated with Internet addiction: (a) psychosocial factors, (b) sociodemographic variables, (c) Internet use variables, and (d) comorbid symptoms. The researchers in that study, which included Griffiths, indicated their results might imply that Internet addiction and other addictive disorders be conceptualized as a syndrome with similar etiology and components, but distinctly different behavioral expressions (Kuss et al., 2014).

Weiser (2001) proposed a functional use model that divided Internet activity into categories of Socio-Affective Regulation (SAR)—comprised of social and interpersonal use of

the Internet, and Goods and Information (GIA) use to obtain knowledge and products. Weiser founded that Internet use associated with SAR was associated with fewer real-world interpersonal relationships and decreased psychological well-being as compared to GIA use. Similar functional use models (Song et al., 2004) distinguished between content gratification involving Internet use to seek information related to participation in real-world activities, and process gratification which brought fulfillment in browsing and gaming activities that pulled away from real-world activities. Song et al. (2004) reported process gratification activities were associated with greater likelihood for addictive behavior on the Internet, noting the difficulty of distinguishing between types of online activities.

A cognitive-behavioral model of Problematic Internet Use (Davis, 2001) distinguished categories for specific behaviors involving online content and generalized behaviors involving more interactive or social functions. Interactive online functions were found to be more highly associated with risk of developing Internet addiction (Li & Chung, 2006; Morahan-Martin & Schumacher, 2000; Young, 1998). The most commonly cited interactive activities associated with risk of developing Internet addiction were chat rooms, bulletin boards, online games, gambling, and cybersex. According to Young (1998), sexual gratification was the highest risk factor for developing Internet addiction.

Caplan (2005) proposed a more comprehensive and traditional cognitive-behavioral model which attributed problematic Internet use to cognitive symptoms such as ruminative cognitive style, low self-worth, low self-esteem, feelings of self-consciousness, depressive cognitive style, and social anxiety. Caplan argued that an underlying psychopathology must be present in order for Internet addiction to emerge through the process of experiencing rewards, reinforcement, and operant conditioning. Caplan proposed treatment prioritize focus on the maladaptive Internet use as opposed to targeting underlying psychopathology (Caplan, 2005).

Classification of Internet Addiction

Although the DSM-5 working committee for substance-related and addictive behaviors considered pathological internet use as a disorder, the committee determined there was insufficient evidence to substantiate its inclusion in the DSM-5 (Petry et al., 2014). In support of this position, an epidemiological research review of internet addiction studies from 2004 to 2014 found lack of a standard classification system for internet addiction, 21 different assessment measures and reported prevalence rates from 0.8% to 26.7% as a result of the different measures and cut-off thresholds (Kuss et al., 2014). This same study elucidated the wide range of comorbid symptoms and disorders associated with internet addiction in both adolescents and adults. While internet addiction isn't directly referenced, the DSM-5 includes Internet Gaming Disorder in Appendix III, noting the need for additional study and potential for future inclusion within Addiction and Related Disorders (APA, 2013).

Following publication of the DSM-5, controversies arose from disparate approaches to establishing standardized criteria for internet security (Griffiths et al., 2016; Kiralyi, 2015; Petry et al., 2014). Internet addiction research and development of assessment measures face criticism for bases in addiction diagnostic criteria and a priori determination of addiction in targeted behaviors (Starcevik & Khazaal, 2017). Despite the absence of specific diagnostic criteria, two sub-types of internet addictions have been proposed: dual-diagnosis to indicate those who suffer with psychological problems that existed prior to onset of addiction, and new internet addicts who have no prior psychiatric or substance addiction histories (Young, 2017a, b). This model appears to be based on Young's research that identified associations between internet addiction and social anxiety, obsessive compulsive disorders, impulsivity, depression, and other general psychiatric problems. Young (2004) reported dual diagnosis addicts believe their compulsive internet use is safer than substance addiction and allows them to avoid their underlying substance addiction.

In 1992, the World Health Organization addressed habit and impulse disorders in the ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders: Clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines (WHO, 1992). WHO considered these disorders as dependence syndromes characterized by repeated acts that had no clear rational motivation which were experienced as uncontrollable and were generally harmful to the person's own and others' interests. While the ICD-10 definition was largely substance-based, coding for impulse and behavioral disorders was specified using non-specific codes for "other impulse disorders" (F63.89), "impulse disorder, unspecific" (F63.9), "other conduct disorders" (F91.8), and "conduct disorder, unspecified" (F91.9; WHO, 1992).

The International Advisory Group for the Revision of the *ICD-10 Mental and Behavioural Disorders* published a conceptual framework (2011) for the revision which prioritized clinical utility, global applicability, and scientific validity to inform changes. Following their review of the clinical utility of ICD-10 diagnoses and DSM-5 approaches to impulse control disorders, the ICD-11 Working Group on Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders chose to deviate from the DSM-5 approach by grouping pathological gambling, compulsive sexual behavior, and problematic internet use within the category of impulsive control disorders (Grant et al., 2014).

Factors that influenced the Working Group's position reflect consideration that these disorders are evolving. For example, while similar brain abnormalities and shared genetic

vulnerabilities have been identified for pathological gambling and substance disorders, the prefrontal cortical dysfunction in pathological gambling appears similar to individuals with mania and there is a shared genetic vulnerability with depressive disorders. The Working Group reiterated their intent to improve clinical utility and to encourage screening for all impulse control disorders (Grant et al., 2014).

Internet Addiction Assessment Measures

Internet addiction is not only challenged by the use of non-standardized definitions and inconsistent models, but also the application of multiple instruments to assess for different symptoms and constructs (Petry et al., 2018). A critical review of Internet addiction assessment measures and their psychometric properties (Laconi et al., 2014) identified 45 tools. Just 17 of 45 had been subject to more than one evaluation of their psychometric properties. Laconi et al. (2014) reported factor analysis results revealed a large degree of inconsistency and most measures exhibited inadequate validity. Generalizability of the majority of samples is limited by composition comprised of students and adolescents (Huang et al., 2007; Osada, 2013) and inadequate sample sizes (Guertler et al., 2014; Huang et al., 2007). There is a lack of validation studies among individuals who meet diagnostic criteria for Internet addiction because most studies involve exploratory surveys where participants do meet criteria for Internet addiction (Kardefelt-Winther, 2014b; Kim et al., 2013; Kardefelt-Winther, 2017).

The Internet Addiction Test

The Internet Addiction Test (IAT; Young, 2017a) is based on the first validated measure of Internet addiction used in clinical settings. It is now widely used in research and has been validated in multiple languages to include French (Khazaal et al., 2008), German (Barke et al., 2012), Norwegian (Johansson & Götestam, 2004), Finnish (Korkeila et al., 2010), Italian (Ferraro et al., 2007), Greek (Siomos et al., 2008), Iranian (Ghassemzadeh et al., 2008), Chinese (Lam et al., 2009), and Arabic (Hawi, 2013). The IAT is a 20-item self-report questionnaire that measures through 5-point Likert scale the characteristics and behavior associated with compulsive use of the internet and problems related to personal, occupational, and social functioning arising from problematic internet use. IAT validation studies include Bartlett's test of sphericity which indicated chi square value of 746.34, p < 0.0001; Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin sampling adequacy value of 0.83, and identification of six factors from a basic scree-test and eigenvalue at >1.0 criteria. The six factors explain 68.16% of the variance. Cronbach's alphas were calculated to measure internal consistency within the items in each factor with all found highly to moderately reliable. The six IAT factors all significantly correlated (Pearson's r) with each other, with the correlations ranging from r = 0.62 to r = 0.226.

The IAT yields an estimate of the overall severity of Internet addiction based on the respondent's self-report (Young, 2017a). Cutoff scores reflect normal level of internet use (z = < 31), mild level of Internet addiction (z = 31-49), moderate level of Internet addiction (z = 50-79), and severe dependence upon the Internet. Cluster scores can be generated for salience, excessive use, neglect of work, anticipation, lack of control, and neglect of social life. Salience (five items) indicates the respondent likely experiences preoccupation with Internet use, hides their behavior from others, experiences diminished interests in other activities or relationships outside of their Internet use, prefer solitary time spent online to alternatives. High salience cluster scores indicate that respondents use the Internet as a form of mental escape and may believe that life without Internet use would result in feelings of boredom, emptiness, and joylessness (Young, 2017).

Excessive use (five items) high scores indicate the respondent engages in excessive and compulsive online use and experiences intermittent inability to control their time spent online. High scores on this cluster suggest the respondent hides their Internet use from others and is likely to experience depression, anxiety, or anger if forced to not use the Internet for an extended period of time (Young, 2017). The cluster score for Neglect of Work (three items) indicates the respondent considers Internet use a necessary appliance such as a telephone, television, or microwave. High scores suggest the respondent exhibits poor productivity and impaired job or school performance due to the amount of time spent engaging in Internet use. Respondents who report high scores in the Neglect Work cluster might become defensive or secretive if confronted about the amount of time they spend online (Young, 2017a).

The Anticipation (2 items) cluster relates to the respondent thinking about Internet use and feeling compelled to engage in Internet use when they when they are not online. Lack of control cluster items indicate the respondent experiences difficulty managing their time spent online, frequently spends more time online than they intended, and is subject to others' complaints about the amount of time the respondent spends online. Social Life Neglect (2 items) cluster scores relate to the use of online relationships as a coping mechanism to manage situational problems and to reduce tension or stress. High scores indicate respondents frequently form new relationships online and rely on Internet use to provide social connections that might be missing in their lives (Young, 2017a).

Prevalence of Internet Addiction

Internet addiction rates have been reported to range from 0.8% to 26.7% (Kuss et al., 2014). Prevalence rates in the United States and Europe are reported to range between

1.5%–8.2% (Weinstein & Lejoyeux, 2010). The majority of studies involved adolescents and college students outside the United States using a variety of cut-off scores. Representative general population samples have shown prevalence rates of 1% in Germany (Rumpf et al., 2014) and 3.4% in the Czech Republic (Šmahel et al., 2009). Kuss et al. (2014) reviewed six studies using the Internet Addiction Test in sample sizes ranging from 1,034 young adults in Turkey to 13,558 Internet users in Korea with reported prevalence ranges from 1.2% to 9.7%. Four percent of Korean adolescents are estimated to meet criteria for Internet addiction (Jang et al., 2008).

Caution is warranted when interpreting and generalizing prevalence reporting due to the wide range of prevalence rates generated by the use of varying measures with questionable validity (Christakis, 2010; Weinstein & Lejoyeux, 2010). The use of variable measures and non-standard thresholds also complicates interpretation of longitudinal studies. For example, Yu & Shek (2013) conducted a 3-year longitudinal study of Hong Kong adolescents which found a decrease from 26.7% to 22.5% of participants who met criteria for Internet addiction. However, different assessment measures were used for the first and last reports.

There is a paucity of studies involving Internet addiction among young adults in the United States (Kuss et al., 2014). A recent study by Rosenthal et al. (2018) found that the IAT has good reliability in a young adult population in the United States. However, increased research focused on Internet Gaming Disorder in Section 3 of the DSM-5 (APA, 2013) and specific "cyberaddictions" might limit advancement of understanding the general construct of Internet addiction (Lopez-Fernandez, 2015).

Features and Associations of Internet Addiction

Due to the prevalence of exploratory research using self-reported measures, Internet addiction has been associated with a wide range of psychosocial and developmental characteristics. Early studies (Shotton 1991) reflected socioeconomic, education, and cultural status factors influencing the largely white, highly-educated, male population reporting dependent computer use. Cases of Internet addiction have been reported across age, gender, and cultural groups as well as personality types (Young, 1998). This section presents psychological, and sociological features associated with Internet addiction in adolescents, in the general adult population, and neurobiological associations.

Adolescents and Internet Addiction

Adolescents have been characterized as particularly vulnerable and at high risk for developing Internet addiction (Czincz & Hechanova, 2009). Adolescent males are reportedly at higher risk than females, although results have varied (Lu & Shek, 2013; Morahan-Martin & Schumacher, 2000). Studies have attributed higher adolescent risks to the process of psychological maturation (Kaltiala-Heino et al., 2004), emerging identity along with desire for intimate relationships and ease of Internet use (Lei & Wu, 2007; Nalwa & Anand, 2003; Widyantao & Griffiths, 2006).

Adolescents experiencing Internet addiction have been found to exhibit increased shyness, loneliness, self-consciousness, depression, anxiety, and difficulties with interpersonal relationships (Cao et al., 2007; Lu & Shek, 2013). Neuroticism, extraversion, and openness to experiences have positively predicted Internet addiction in adolescents while conscientiousness and agreeableness were negative predictors (Montag, Jurkiewicz & Reuter, 2010; Zhou et al., 2017). Comorbid hypomania, dysthymia, and avoidant, borderline, and obsessive-compulsive personality disorders have been found in adolescents exhibiting Internet addiction in the United States (Bernardi & Pallanti, 2009). Internet addiction in adolescents is highly associated with negative experiences in the family environment (Kim & Kim, 2015). Interparental conflict is a risk factor for adolescent Internet addiction (Yang et al., 2016). Emotional insecurity mediates the association between interparental conflict and Internet addiction (Zhou et al., 2017). Adolescents with Internet addiction perceive their parents as uninvolved, unaccepting, emotionally unavailable, and providing inadequate supervision and support (Karaer & Akdemir, 2019). These adolescents also struggled with inadequate social support and greater difficulty identifying, expressing, and regulating their emotions. In this group, lower parental engagement and supervision, higher alexithymia, and anxiety disorders were found to predict Internet addiction. Peer-related loneliness predicts problematic internet use in adolescents and detachment from parents mediates the association between parent-related loneliness and problematic Internet use (Musetti et al., 2020). These findings present clear connections from lack of secure attachment, supportive and engaged parents, and good social support to the development and maintenance of Internet addiction.

Features, Risk Factors, and Comorbidities Associated with Internet Addiction

Studies have reported that Internet addiction is associated with higher rates of depression (Kim et al., 2006), anxiety, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and obsessive compulsive symptoms, hostility, and aggression (Carli et al., 2013), loneliness and shyness (Caplan, 2002, 2003, 2005; Ceyhan & Ceyhan, 2008; Chak & Leung, 2004; Kim et al., 2009), low self-esteem (Armstrong, 2004; Fioravant et al., 2012), social anxiety (Weinstein et al., 2015), physical ailments such as back and eye strain and severely disrupted sleep patterns (Young, 1998), and problematic interpersonal relationships (Beard & Wolf, 2001; Young, 1998). High rates of comorbid affective major depression, dysthymia, dissociative disorders, bipolar,

and antisocial, borderline, and narcissistic personality disorders are associated with Internet addiction (Kuss & Lopez-Fernandez, 2016).

People who are experiencing Internet addiction report less faith, greater belief in the irresistible power of others, and higher trust in chance to determine one's life course as compared to those who are not experiencing Internet addiction (Chak & Leung, 2004). Internet addiction is also associated with higher rates of sensation seeking (Armstrong et al., 2000; Velezmoro et al., 2010; Widyanto & McMurran, 2004), disruption in menial daily tasks (Bear & Wolf, 2001), suicidality (Kim et al., 2006, 2009), attention deficits, hyperactivity, and impulsivity (Yoo et al., 2004). Diminished life satisfaction is significantly correlated with Internet addiction (Longstreet & Brooks, 2017). Internet addiction has been associated with maladaptive personality traits; negative affectivity, disinhibition, and psychoticism have been found to predict Internet addiction (Gervasi et al., 2017; Leung, 2007;). Higher novelty seeking and harm avoidance, and lower reward dependence are associated with higher likelihood of Internet addiction (Ko et al., 2006; Ko et al., 2010).

Personality traits correlated with Internet addiction have been widely studied in adolescents and young adults (Floros & Simios, 2014). Neuroticism, emotional reactivity and instability, sensitivity to punishment, psychoticism / negative valence, sensation and novelty seeking have all been positively correlated to Internet addiction (Charlton & Danford, 2010; Dong et al., 2012; Fisoun et al., 2012; Meerkerk et al., 2010; Yan et al., 2014). Extraversion, conscientiousness, reward dependence and sensitivity, agreeableness, sentimentality, self-directedness, persistence have all been negatively correlated with Internet addiction (Charlton & Danford, 2010; Ko et al., 2006, 2007, 2010; Kuss et al., 2013; Montag et al., 2010; Müller et al., 2013; Rahmani & Lavasani, 2011). Negative affectivity, avoidant attachment style, and dissociative symptoms of depersonalization/derealization are strongly associated with Internet addiction in young adults (Schimmenti et al., 2019).

Gervasi et al. (2017) explored young adults' aged 18-25 (N = 349) maladaptive personality traits and Internet Addiction as measured by the Personality Inventory for DSM-5 Brief Form Adult (PID-5-BF; Kreuger et al., 2012) which represents the five personality domains according to the DSM-5 Alternative Model for Personality Disorders (AMPD; APA, 2013). The sample produced a mean IAT score of 38.05 with most participants reporting scores in the normal range (Gervasi et al., 2017). A hierarchical, multiple regression analysis found that negative affect, disinhibition, and psychoticism predicted internet addiction symptoms. This research is consistent with previous studies (Gervasi et al., 2017; Leung, 2007). However, it is unclear that the sample size and characteristics are sufficient for the statistical tests of multiple linear regression. Further, there is no exploration of the dimensional aspects of the alternative model constructs of self and interpersonal functioning (APA, 2013).

Difficulties in emotion regulation have been associated with development and maintenance of problematic Internet use (Billieux & Van der Linden, 2012). Difficulties engaging in goal-directed behaviors and lack of emotional regulation have been observed as significant antecedents to Internet addiction (Ceyhan et al., 2019). In the same study, participants with preoccupied and fearful attachment styles were more likely to engage in problematic Internet use that resulted in functional impairment. Emotion regulation difficulties predict the severity of Intern addiction (Oktan, 2011). Estevez et al. (2017) demonstrated that emotion regulation predicted both substance and behavioral addictions whereas attachment predicted only non-substance-related addictions to include Internet addiction. Another study involving late adolescents found gender-unique symptoms of alexithymia among females and trauma experience in males to be independently related to Internet addiction, suggesting difficulty in emotion regulation for females and traumatic memories in males might increase the risk of Internet addiction during this developmental period (Schimmenti et al., 2017).

Kandell (1998) found that college students exhibiting Internet addiction were often dealing with underlying issues such as problematic relationships or academic difficulties. Kandell observed that once the underlying psychological issues were addressed, individuals reestablished balance and Internet addiction symptoms resolved. Huang (2006) expounded on this view in a study of the implications of psychosocial development with 33,959 Taiwanese college students. Huang found significant correlations between increased time spent online and unsuccessful resolution of Identity and Intimacy crises (Erikson, 1963).

Internet addiction been further considered from a developmental perspective, arising from attachment insecurity or stressful childhood experiences (Schimmenti et al., 2014). Literature supports the role of attachment and Internet addiction with insecure (Lin et al., 2011; Severinoa & Craparob, 2013), anxious and avoidant (Shin et al., 2009) and dismissive, preoccupied attachment styles (Odacı & Çıkrıkçı, 2014) all confirmed risk factors for development and maintenance of Internet addiction. Secure attachment has negatively predicted Internet addiction (Monacis et al., 2017). In this same recent study, Monacis et al. found that attachment styles incrementally explained between 9.2% and 14% of Internet addiction severity while Identity styles accounted for between 21.2% and 30% of the variance with informational and diffuse-avoidant styles identified as risk factors.

Intrapersonal variables have shown smaller statistical effects on Internet addiction than interpersonal variables, suggesting that intrapersonal stress and psychosocial developmental difficulties are more likely to predispose individuals to Internet addiction than interpersonal conflicts (Koo & Kwon, 2014). Adolescents with severe Internet addiction report lower family functioning and extraversion, higher neuroticism and psychoticism, and more stressful life events while those with mild Internet addiction report higher neuroticism and more difficulty with health and adaptation issues (Yan et al., 2014). Males have shown higher rates and severity of Internet addiction (Durkee et al., 2012; Morahan-Martin & Schumacher, 2000). Good family functioning has predicted lower probability of Internet addiction over time (Lu & Shek, 2013). Internet addiction has been suggested to arise from Internet use as a mechanism to cope with real life difficulties (Young, 1998). The Self-Medication Hypothesis (Kantzian, 1985, 2003) proposed addiction as a self-regulation problem that manifests from adaptations in an attempt to self-medicate painful or confusing emotions, reflective of disordered personality organization.

Multiple studies involving clinical samples found that half of those experiencing Internet addiction presented with at least one other psychiatric disorder and 38% with a concurrent narcissistic, borderline, or avoidant personality disorder (Floros et al., 2014; Müller et al., 2014). Studies involving clinical populations have found high rates of comorbid affective major depression, dysthymia, dissociative disorders, bipolar, and antisocial, borderline, and narcissistic personality disorders associated with Internet addiction (Kuss & Lopez-Fernandez, 2016). As compared to healthy controls, Internet addicts receiving psychiatric treatment exhibit significantly higher rates of comorbid depression, dissociation and obsessive-compulsive symptoms (Te Wildt et al., 2010; Wölfling et al., 2013). Another study involving a clinical population (N = 368) found increased psychopathological symptomatology with 30.9% meeting criteria for a bipolar disorder (Wölfling et al., 2015).

Cheng et al. (2015) identified statistically significant mediating effects of both avoidant and inflexible coping on Internet addiction .An exploratory study of the relationships between social support, coping style, and tendencies toward Internet addiction found that higher perceived social support in everyday life was negatively correlated with tendencies toward Internet addiction, vigilant coping style was positively correlated, and no robust associations were observed between cognitive avoidant coping styles and tendency toward Internet addiction (Jung et al., 2019).

Caplan (2005) demonstrated that preference for online social interactions leads to compulsive Internet use, resulting in negative outcomes. Social anxiety, loneliness, and preference for online social interactions are significantly correlated with Internet addiction (Caplan, 2007). Caplan reported that social anxiety is a significant predictor—more so than loneliness, of preference for online social interactions. Recent studies proposed exploration of relationships between pathological social withdrawal, "hikikomori", and Internet addiction, noting the prevalence of comorbidity for both conditions and growing social trends resulting in increased isolation and dependence on the internet (Kato et al., 2020).

Some have suggested Internet addiction is a symptom of underlying pathology (Davis, 2001; Morahan-Martin, 2005), noting the difficulty of distinguishing Internet addiction causality from underlying pathologies. A longitudinal study involving college students (N = 59; Dong et al., 2011) found elevated obsessive-compulsive behaviors were present prior to onset of Internet addiction. Following onset of Internet addiction, higher rates of depression, anxiety, hostility, interpersonal sensitivity, and psychoticism were reported whereas somatization, paranoid ideation, and phobic anxiety showed no changes during the study.

Neurobiological Associations with Internet Addiction

Advances in technology have contributed to studies involving radiographic imaging techniques capable of detecting structural changes and functional differences in the brains of people experiencing Internet addiction (Bai et al., 2001; He et al., 2017; Ko et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2017; Yuan et al., 2011). These studies have helped to contribute to understanding the pathophysiology of Internet addiction. The brains of people with Internet addiction show multiple areas of decreased gray matter volume, white matter changes, and abnormal white matter structures suggesting long term Internet addiction results in structural alterations that contribute to chronic dysfunction (Yuan et al., 2011).

Abnormal white matter structures throughout the brain, decreased delta and beta powers, fast-wave brain activity during resting states, and abnormalities in the dopaminergic system have been suggested as biomarkers of Internet addiction (Choi et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2012). Rahmani et al. (2019) proposed microstructural biomarkers of connectivity in the corpus callosum and parts of bilateral corticospinal tracts for predisposition to Internet addiction in a healthy population.

Studies to compare activation within the orbitofrontal cortex and anterior cingulate of those addicted to the Internet and healthy controls suggested that Internet addicts have enhanced reward sensitivity and decreased loss sensitivity which is consistent with findings from studies of other addictions (Dong et al., 2011). Subsequent studies of event-related brain potential (ERP) in conjunction with behavioral measures showed the Internet addicted group exhibited reduced medial frontal negativity (MFN) deflection and impaired executive ability with longer reaction times and more response errors as compared to the normal, healthy group (Dong et al., 2011). Internet addicts have also been observed through electroencephalogram (EEG) recording to perform at higher risk levels and exhibit smaller feedback-related negativity (FRN) indicative of weaker sensitivity to punishment and stronger sensitivity to reward as compared to normal groups (He et al., 2017). Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI) studies of people with Internet addiction showed decreased right frontal-parietal network (FPN) and increased left FPN inter-hemispheric functional connectivity, reduced functional connectivity in the dorsalmedial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) of the anterior default mode network (DMN), and reduced functional connectivity between the salience network (SN) and the anterior DMN (Darnai et al., 2019). These findings appeared to further explain Internet addiction symptoms of difficulties with stopping and controlling overuse. Examination of neuroimaging findings has led researchers to suggest that Internet addiction shares psychological and neural mechanisms with drug addiction (He at al., 2017; Yuan et al., 2011; Xu, 2012).

Abnormal dopamine regulation detected within the prefrontal cortex (PFC) of Internet addicts might further contribute to difficulties with underlying motivational value and uncontrolled behavior characteristic of Internet addiction (Zhu et al., 2015). Recent studies to elucidate the neurobiological mechanisms of Internet addiction involved exploration of the striatal dopamine transporter (DAT) system as measured by single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) brain scans. Hou et al. (2012) demonstrated that as compared to a normal group, people addicted to the Internet exhibited decreased volume and weight of the bilateral corpus striatum and greatly reduced dopamine receptors, further supporting the claim that Internet addiction shares neurobiological abnormalities with other addictive disorders.

Emerging Approaches to Internet Addiction

The case has been made that Internet addiction can be conceptualized as compensation versus compulsion (Kardefelt-Winther, 2014b). Kardefelt-Winther argued that due to the predominance of examining vulnerabilities to Internet addiction in isolation, significant values might obfuscate confounding effects of other underlying factors. He referred to his previous work controlling for the effects of stress on Internet addiction (Kardefelt-Winther, 2014a), which resulted in reductions in previously significant relationships between both loneliness and social anxiety with Internet addiction.

Kardefelt-Winther (2017) endorsed earlier speculations that Internet addiction occurred as a result of attempts to cope with real-life situations which has been repeatedly mentioned over the course of 15 years by Young (1998), Armstrong et al. (2000), Whan et al. (2003), Chak & Lueng (2004), Widyanto & Griffiths (2006), Kim et al. (2009), Young (2009), Shen & Williams (2011), and Kuss et al. (2014). Kardefelt-Winther noted earlier studies that found heavy TV watching was more likely during dysphoric states (Kubey & Cxikszentmihalyi, 1990) which informed speculation that this logic might also apply to Internet use as a form of self-medication (Bessier et al., 2004). Later studies found that Internet users are able to compensate for the lack of real-life interaction through the exchange of online messages (Caplan, 2007).

The behavioral addiction field has been challenged for its potential over-pathologizing of everyday behaviors through a formulaic, atheoretical, and confirmatory approach in which *a priori* consideration targets behavior based on anecdotal observations (Billieux et al., 2015; Kardefelt-Winther, 2017). The process is described as continuing on to development of screening tools adapted from traditional substance abuse criteria which determines that certain risk factors are involved in the development and maintenance of new behavioral disorders. Billieux et al. (2015) argued that such diagnostic-centric approaches might lead to neglect of the underlying motivations, affect, cognitions, and interpersonal or social processes contributing to the development or maintenance of the maladaptive behavior. Kardefelt-Winther (2017) argued that exploring problematic Internet use independent of the addiction framework might allow less

constrained perspectives and increased focus on understanding the problem of Internet addiction and why it occurs and persists.

Detractors of these proposals suggested abandoning the concept of Internet addiction entirely, rather to investigate very specific problematic behaviors involving the Internet such as online gaming or sexual activity (Starcevic & Aboujaoude, 2017). This approach appeared to exponentially increase the very issues that arguably inhibited progress in reaching formal standards and definitions for Internet addiction (Billieux et al., 2015; Kardefelt-Winther, 2017). A highly critical analysis followed (van Rooij & Kardefelt-Winther, 2017), characterizing pervasive dependence on flawed literature and chaotic, confusing approach that the authors argued should not result in generating new disorders.

Kardefelt-Winther et al. (2017) further debated the merits of conceptualizing behavioral addictions which resulted in pathologizing everyday behaviors. An operational definition and exclusion criteria were proposed along with supportive justifications for closing gaps and shortcomings unaddressed by other theoretical frameworks. Most notably, the authors invited researchers to contribute to the definition and ongoing work through the Open Science Foundation.

In response, an argument was made that the proposed removal of tolerance and withdrawal from diagnostic criteria and exclusion of functional impairment arising from the consequences of willfully chosen behavior ran counter to fundamental conceptualizations of addiction (Thege, 2017) and the components model of behavioral addiction in particular (Griffiths, 2019). Griffiths further endorsed the confirmatory approach to behavioral addiction based on his view that similarities align behavioral addictions and idiosyncrasies distinguish specific variants of addiction. Acknowledging the apparent stalemate in the field, yet another

framework emerged that considered the consequences of problematic Internet use as social construct within a world of ubiquitous Internet use rather than medicalization of mental disorders (Helmersson Bergmark, 2017). This pattern is similar to the previously referenced conflicts of opinions and approaches to addiction.

Categorical Diagnostic Models

Categorical models of operationally defined psychiatric diagnoses with strict criteria emerged in the late 20th century in response to criticism of weak diagnostic reliability (Kirk & Kutchins, 1994). The DSM-III forced increased reliability with explicit diagnostic criteria for individual clinical syndromes, independent and differentiated from other disorders (APA, 2000). The expectation with this approach was to demonstrate individual disorders by unique and discernable molecular genetics, pathophysiology, common clinical course substantiated by empirical testing, ultimately to be treated with standardized pharmacological and psychotherapeutic interventions (Regier, Narrow, Kuhl, & Kupfer, 2009). The influence of these expectations can be seen in each subsequent edition to include the current DSM-5.

While categorical models adopted in DSM-III led to increased diagnostic reliability, validity suffered. Overlapping clinical presentations, high levels of comorbidity, and over-use of catch-all "not otherwise specified" diagnoses were common challenges indicative of validity issues (Bender, Skodol, First, & Oldham, 2017). Further, treatment response was less specific because some medications were effective in treating a wide range of disorders (Regier et al., 2009). In response to these limitations and a groundswell of clinical support, the APA Board of Trustees introduced new dimensional approaches in DSM-5 (APA, 2013).

DSM-5 Alternative Model for Personality Disorders

The DSM-5 Alternative Model for Personality Disorders (AMPD) provides a model to explore relationships between behavioral addiction and self and interpersonal functioning. The AMPD measures personality functioning and pathological personality traits (APA, 2013). The construct of personality functioning is organized by the elements of Self which consists of Identity and Self-direction, and Interpersonal which consists of Empathy and Intimacy (see Table 2.1). Pathological personality traits are organized within a taxonomy of five trait domains which consist of 25 trait facets identified through review of existing trait models, meta-analytic reviews, and empirical data demonstrating relationships to DSM-IV diagnoses for personality disorders.

Table 2.1

Dimensions Within the Alternative Model for Personality Disorders

Self	Interpersonal
Identity	Empathy
Self Direction	Intimacy
Den Direction	minuey

Identity is defined as the experience of "oneself as unique with clear boundaries between self and others; stability of self-esteem and the accuracy of self-appraisal; capacity for, and ability to regulate, a range of emotional experience" (APA, 2013, p. 762). Self-direction is the "pursuit of coherent and meaningful short-term and life goals; utilization of constructive and prosocial internal standards of behavior; ability to self-reflect productively" (APA, 2013, p. 762). The Interpersonal element consists of Empathy which is characterized as "comprehension of and appreciation of others' experiences and motivations; tolerance of differing perspectives; understanding the effects of one's own behavior on others" (APA, 2013, p. 762). The Intimacy functioning is characterized as "depth and duration of connection with others; desire and

capacity for closeness; mutuality of regard reflected in interpersonal behavior" (APA, 2013, p. 762).

Psychosocial Development

Erik Erikson (1963, 1968) conceptualized a psycho-social model for how people develop beliefs about themselves and learn to psychologically exist within their communities in order to become productive, satisfied members of society. Erikson's model consists of eight developmental stages of psychosocial maturation. In the model, development is achieved through sequential resolution of distinct conflicts faced at each stage. Successful resolution of these conflicts produces distinct virtues and strengths for each given stage. Failure to favorably resolve a particular conflict is believed due to negative experiences during that stage. The result of failed resolutions to conflict are maladaptive psychological responses associated with specific stages. Theoretically, the outcome of conflict resolution at each stage—success or failure, accrues and remains throughout the lifecycle, contributing to efforts and experiences in later stages.

Erikson's 1968 collection of essays and observations *Identity Youth and Crisis* includes a chapter on adolescence that seems as relevant today as it was when it was published some 50-odd years ago. Erikson's theory of adolescent development is grounded in the pursuit of identity, a self-constructed internalized ideology congruent with the society in which the adolescent will transition to adulthood. During this stage, adolescents are expected to explore the possibilities of their future life and begin to form their own identities. Erikson describes the adolescent exploration of their independence and development of a sense of self as "stormy" in their pursuit of affirmation by peers, confirmation by influential adults, and inspiration for worth-while, ideological pursuits. Adolescents are viewed in this model as struggling to choose work in which they can experience not only financial success but the ability to function with

unique excellence. This attitude is presented by Erikson as a preference to be perceived as acting foolishly from free-will rather than forced to act in ways they perceive as shameful.

Erikson (1968) viewed technological advances as extending childhood by delaying the onset of adulthood because they represented more possibilities of potential career roles, and therefore, identities to choose from. Erikson considered the "stormy" experience as less intense for those adolescents who were "gifted and well-trained in the pursuit of expanding technological trends" (p. 130) which influenced their career choices. According to Erikson's model, the inability to select and settle on an occupational identity creates the most distress for young people. Romantic pursuits, group affiliation, and interpersonal relationships at this developmental stage are primarily attempts to arrive at a sense of one's identity.

Based on Erikson's model (1968), adolescents who struggle to overcome the crisis in this stage of development might experience distantiation rather than achieve the basic virtue of fidelity and strength of devotion which fuel intimacy and commitment. Distantiation manifests as "readiness to repudiate, isolate, and, if necessary, destroy those forces and people whose essence seems dangerous to one's own" (p. 136) with heightened, "fanatical" sensitivity to guard one's existing territory of intimacy and solidarity against perceived threats. Remnants of adolescent dangers will re-appear anywhere there may be actual, or perceived, intimacy or competition. Erikson makes a clear and compelling case for the importance of successful identity development in adolescence with occupation selection. While career development evolves across the lifespan, occupation selection in adolescence results in the ability to experience fidelity and commitment in later stages of development.

CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY

This chapter presents the study methodology to include sample and inclusion/exclusion criteria, data collection instruments, design procedures, and data analysis.

Sample and Inclusion Criteria

The study was comprised of 363 adults age 25–39 living in the United States and meeting criteria for at least mild internet addiction as measured by the Internet Addiction Test (IAT;Young, 2017a). Inclusion criterion was developed based on the prevalence of technology adoption by the U.S. based millennial population with birth dates between 1981 and 1996, 93% of whom have been shown to own smart phones (Vogel, 2019). Focus on this particular age range also contributed to understanding participants' experience of internet addiction and diminished self and interpersonal functioning relative to specific stages of Erikson's psychosocial developmental theory. Partial completion of the study measures were grounds for exclusion from the study.

Design

Mixed methods research approaches provide capacity to consider different aspects of research questions (Teddlie & Tashakorri, 2009). The design reflects consideration for mixed methodology research as a distinct integration of quantitative and qualitative data collection, analysis, deductive and inductive understanding that can produce more comprehensive research questions, more dependable/reliable data, expanded options for data analysis, improved inference quality (internal validity/credibility) and transferability (external validity; Creswell & Clark, 2017).

This mixed methods study involved sequential, convergent, and nested quantitative and qualitative data collection followed by descriptive and inferential statistical analysis to explore

relationships between internet addiction and self- and interpersonal functioning. Subsequent inductive thematic analysis informed identification of themes and patterns in the data aligned to the study focus and with consideration for current events at the time of the study. A pragmatic approach was used to combine the approaches to inquiry in order to more fully explore understanding within the focus of the study.

The study design was influenced by the researcher's integrated theoretical orientation and inherently pragmatic approach —working under the assumption that there are multiple, legitimate ways of seeking to understand and to make meaning, to think about what is of importance, and to assign priority (Leavy, 2017). As such, the inclusion of qualitative research questions in the study reflect the author's position that knowledge is both constructed and based on the world in which we live. Therefore, identification of themes and data patterns might more fully inform understanding of the experience of internet addiction.

The study incorporates online research platforms which, in recent years, demonstrate more scalable, timely, cost-effective, and representative samples than traditional lab research that relies heavily on student participants (Buhrmester et al., 2011; Paolacci & Chandler, 2014). The proliferation of crowdsourcing platforms such as Mechanical Turk (MTurk) helped to advance the use of such services in the economic, social, and behavioral sciences (Peer, Brandimarte, Samat, & Acquisti, 2017). The proliferation of online research in the social and behavioral sciences in recent years is supported by evidence that they provide high quality data in more scaled, timely, cost-effective, and representative samples than classical lab experiments with student participants (Palan & Schitter, 2018).

Prolific (<u>www.prolific.co</u>) is a commercial research recruitment platform that manages a pool (N = >96,500) from which researchers can recruit participants for online behavioral and

social science research (Prolific, n.d.). Prolific is designed and proven to meet the specific needs and requirements of academic researchers (Callan et al., 2016). Prolific differentiates their recruitment platform with features such as offering prescreening filters prior to study launch and adherence to ethical research practices such as preventing participation by minors and enforcing minimum payment levels (Prolific, n.d.).

According to Prolific's (n.d.) published guidance, participants who are enrolled in the platform are recruited for specific studies through emails which are sent by Prolific to a random subset of all eligible participants once a study is posted. All participants are able to see currently available studies for which they are eligible when they are logged in and navigate to the active studies' page. If a study does not reach the maximum number of participants within 48 hours, Prolific sends additional email invitations every 48 hours to all participants eligible for the study in order to fulfill maximum participation. Prolific reports quality standards for each participant and study, monitors for potential fraud indicators, and enforces a rate-limiting mechanism to distribute studies evenly across the participant pool in order to prevent participants from turning into professional survey takers (Prolific, n.d.). As compared to other crowdsourcing platforms, Prolific has demonstrated higher data quality, geographic and ethnic diversity, and participant naivete to common research tasks (Palan & Schitter, 2018).

The Prolific Academic Participation Terms (n.d.) establish privacy protections that Prolific does not disclose personal data between participants and researchers. Researchers see only anonymized demographic data for screening and study purposes. Prolific implements protective measures to prevent participants' release of personally identifiable information to researchers. Prolific also provides for secure, anonymized email through its platform for confidential, anonymous communication between researchers and study participants.

Data Collection Instruments

Instruments were selected to support the collection and analysis of data to conduct a mixed-methods study via online data collection. Appropriate permissions were granted by copyright holders as demonstrated in Appendix A for the use and modification of data collection instruments for online data collection.

Internet Addiction Test (IAT)

Participants were administered the Internet Addiction Test (IAT; Young, 2017a) a self-report measure consisting of 20 questions in a 5-point Likert scale where 1 = Rarely and 5 = Always. The IAT measures characteristics and behavior associated with compulsive use of the internet and problems related to personal, occupational, and social functioning arising from problematic internet use. The IAT has been proven to be a reliable measure of symptoms of internet addiction with internal consistency of the 20 items within six factors as highly to moderately reliable as measured by Cronbach's alpha calculations (Widyanto & McMurran, 2004).

The IAT has been characterized as the first validated measure of internet addiction used in clinical settings and is one of the most widely used in research (Young, 2017). The IAT has been validated in multiple languages to include French (Khazaal et al., 2008), German (Brand et al., 2016), Norwegian (Johansson & Götestam, 2004), Finnish (Kaltiala-Heino et al., 2004; Korkeila et al., 2010), Italian (Ferraro et al., 2007), Greek (Siomos et al., 2008), Iranian (Ghassemzadeh et al., 2008), Chinese (Lam et al., 2009), and Bangladeshi (Karmin & Nigar, 2014).

The Level of Personality Functioning Scale – Brief Form 2.0 (LPFS-BF 2.0)

The Level of Personality Functioning Scale—Brief Form 2.0. (LPFS-BF 2.0; Weekers et al., 2018) is a 12-item self-report questionnaire to assess the level of personality functioning as described in Section III of the DSM-5 (APA, 2013). The 12-items in the LPFS-BF 2.0 are clustered in two higher-order domains: self and interpersonal functioning. Participants rate the 12 items on a 4-point Likert scale that ranges from 1 (completely untrue) to 4 (completely true). The LPFS-BF 2.0 demonstrated satisfactory internal consistency and validity of internal structure and construct validity (Weekers et al., 2018). The LPFS-BF 2.0 provides a brief, user-friendly measure of the severity of personality pathology with consideration for the Alternative Model for Personality Disorders introduced in Section III of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (*DSM-5*; APA, 2013).

Semi-Structured Interview

Participants enrolled in the study were administered a semi-structured interview following completion of the IAT and LPFS-BF 2.0. The interview consisted of two questions with narrative responses limited to 1000 characters. Question 1: The Internet affects people's lives in different ways. How does the Internet affect your life? Please describe and explain at least two examples of how the Internet affects your life. Question 2: How are things going in your life with work, housing, and relationships? When responding describe each area as opposed to giving one-word answers. Demographic data was collected about participants' age, gender, location, employment, and socioeconomic status.

Recruitment

Participants aged 25–39 in the United States were recruited randomly through the Prolific research platform in April 2020. The platform has demonstrated its ability to meet the specific needs and requirements of academic researchers whose work has been published in peer-reviewed journals (Callan et al., 2016; Peer et al., 2017). Reputation systems of online research platforms have demonstrated sufficient data quality for academic research purposes (Peer et al., 2017). Further, the proliferation of online research in the social and behavioral sciences is supported by evidence that these approaches provide more scaled, timely, cost-effective, and representative samples than classical lab experiments predominantly limited to student participants (Palan & Schitter, 2018; Rasmussen, 2017).

A priori power analysis determined that given the study parameters, at least 250 participants should be enrolled based on the assumption of detecting moderate effects, alpha .05, and conservative estimate of 20% attrition. The recruitment effort was configured to reach 400 potential participants in order to enroll the conservative target of 250 participants who met criteria for exhibiting at least minimal Internet Addiction as measured by the IAT (Young, 2017a). Respondents were each compensated \$1.25 which equates to the hourly rate of \$12.62. This rate was determined by the study author based on a calculation of the estimated time required for each participant to complete the study. Based on the average response completion time, the adjusted compensation equates to an hourly rate of \$8.57. An additional fee of \$0.42 per respondent was provided to Prolific for recruitment services and use of their research platform. The total cost for recruitment was \$668.00.

Data Collection

The study involved collection of deidentified and anonymous data via web-based submissions managed through the Prolific Academic Research Platform and Survey Monkey, an online survey platform. Survey Monkey Premier service was used in order to meet the Prolific Academic Research Platform requirement for an automatic survey redirect upon completion of the survey. This mechanism reduces the risks of inability to compensate respondents or to attribute responses.

Informed consent (see Appendix C) was managed through the Prolific Research Platform. A data-time stamped digital record was created for each participant based on their unique, 24-digit Prolific user identification number. Participants were also required to provide this identification number in response to the first item on the study. This entry was recorded through the Survey Monkey platform, which created a separate date-time stamped digital record for each participant.

Preceding administration of the 20-item Internet Addiction Test (Young, 2017a) respondents were presented with the following text adaptation:

The following questionnaire consists of statements about all types of use of the Internet (desktop, laptop, mobile device, tablet). After reading each statement, select the response which best describes you. If two choices seem to apply equally well, choose the option that best represents how you were most of the time during the past month. Be sure to read each statement carefully before making your choice.

Immediately upon completion of the IAT, respondents were administered the 12-item Level of Personality Functioning Scale—Brief Form 2.0. (LPFS-BF 2.0; Weekers et al., 2018).
Following completion of the LPFS-BF 2.0, respondents were presented with two required questions (QR1 and QR2) that each called for free-form responses. Each item was allocated up to 500 characters in response. This structure provided participants the ability to submit 100-150 word free-text responses for each narrative item: QR1: *The Internet affects people's lives in different ways. How does the Internet affect your life? Please describe and explain at least two examples of how the Internet affects your life.* QR2: *How are things going in your life with work, housing, and relationships? When responding, describe each area as opposed to giving one-word answers.* Respondents were then asked to complete demographic questions about gender, which was comprised of four groups, age, which was comprised of three groups each one spanning five years between age 25–39, zip code, and employment status.

Respondents were presented with a closing splash screen. The screen provided information about the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration's National Helpline 1-800-662-HELP (4357). The Helpline is a free, confidential service that provides multi-lingual treatment referral and information for individuals and families facing mental and/or substance use disorders. Respondents were provided a maximum of 55 minutes to complete the submission process. The average response completion time was seven minutes. The longest completion time was 37 minutes. The shortest completion time was two minutes.

Data Analysis

Data was exported from Prolific Academic Research Platform and Survey Monkey into a desktop version of Microsoft Excel licensed within Microsoft Office Home and Student 2019. The study sample (n = 363) was formed as a subset of the 400 responses which produced scores of at least 30 points on the IAT—indicating mild or greater internet addiction. Study data was

then transferred to a separate Excel workbook, imported to a licensed desktop version of IBM SPSS Statistics 26, and uploaded to Dedoose web-based software for qualitative data analysis.

Descriptive statistics were initially calculated with manual input of formulas in Excel. The results were then validated through re-calculation using IBM SPSS Statistics 26. Frequencies and percentages were calculated for ordinal and nominal data such as gender, age category, earnings category, and level of severity of internet addiction. Means, medians, and standard deviations were calculated for ordinal and ratio data such as scores from IAT and LPF-BF 2.0 measures.

Inferential statistics to test the hypotheses involved correlation analysis of the degrees of association between internet addiction and diminished self and interpersonal functioning as measured by the IAT and LPFS-BF 2.0. Calculations were initially performed using IBM SPSS. The results of these calculations were then validated through recalculation in Excel using the Data Analysis ToolPak function.

Critical Reflexive Thematic Analysis

Critical Reflexive Thematic Analysis seeks to interrogate patterns of meaning from the theoretical orientation that language creates rather than reflects reality (Terry et al., 2017). This approach to qualitative research is characterized by theoretical flexibility with analysis informed by the researcher's unique experiences, skills, inherently biased perspective, and depth of familiarization with the data (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Erikson's Psychosocial Developmental Theory (1959, 1968) informed the researcher's analysis of participants' experience of Internet addiction and development of themes following inductive coding. The researcher's interpretation of dominant patterns of meaning and the development of themes within a guiding theoretical

framework is consistent with both the data collection approach and the conceptual underpinnings of Critical Reflexive Thematic Analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2019; Terry et al., 2017).

This critical approach considers the researcher's subjectivity as integral to the organic, flexible process of analysis through increasing familiarity with the data (Braun & Clarke, 2006). The researcher is expected to subjectively interpret the data to produce not only themes but also greater meaning identified within the data. Grounded theory concepts and procedures such as saturation, constant comparative analysis, and line by line coding might introduce problematic procedural assumptions to critical reflexive thematic analysis (Clarke & Braun, 2019). Data quality in Critical Reflexive Thematic Analysis arises from the intersection of the researcher's skills, experience, theoretical lens, familiarity with the data, and effective critical analysis (Braun et al., 2019).

The process of critical reflexive thematic analysis in this study involved phased, iterative, recursive analysis and reporting (Alvesson & Sköldberg, 2018). The initial phase of analysis involved familiarization with the data through reading and re-reading the corpus of data comprised of the 363 participants' responses which consisted of 726 unique extracts. Emphasis during this phase was familiarization with the complex and rich data through curiosity and questioning that generated early and provisional analytic ideas (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Braun et al., 2019; Terry et al., 2017). Initial ideas generated through observations and notes during this phase influenced later use of Dedoose software in order to effectively manage the sheer volume and complexity of data. Initial identification of codes captured experiences relative to current social events that were unrelated to the study's focus. This approach allowed for improved data reliability by removing codes that were not relevant to the research questions.

During the second phase of reflexive thematic analysis, inductive coding was completed using Dedoose software for qualitative analysis. While inductive coding is more commonly encountered in ground theory research, the sheer volume and complexity of the data in this study precipitated this approach to ensure effective integration of the data collection and analysis methods (Braun & Clarke, 2019). Following development of initial codes, data was exported from Dedoose to Excel where initial codes were integrated and collated with all study data to facilitate the initial production of themes. Themes were identified with consideration for Erikson's Psychosocial Developmental Model and the researcher's depth and breadth of familiarity with the data. All excerpts were reintegrated with study data within Excel. Analysis, review, and further immersion in the data led to collated, integrated codes across the entire data set and generation of two preliminary, overarching themes.

During the third phase of analysis, a systematic, iterative, recursive analysis of the entire data set informed the development of six themes and an early thematic map that placed the themes within an overarching framework influenced by Erikson's Psychosocial Development Model (see Figures 2 and 3). The researcher's ongoing analysis led to refinement of descriptions for each theme and an overarching story told by the analysis. These outcomes informed the final analysis and analytic reporting with specific aspects and features of representative experience to form the basis for analytic claims that relate themes back to the research questions (Terry et al., 2017).

Design Quality and Interpretive Rigor

This section describes considerations for addressing mixed methods research design quality and interpretive rigor which impact the quality of inferences and integrity of the meaning-making process. A social perception or attribution model was applied to consider the quality and integrity of research inferences (Heider, 1958; Kelly, 1967; Teddlie & Tashakorri, 2009). An integrative framework assumes transferability to various contexts, entities, and alternative approaches to conceptualization. Statistical tests of validity using SPSS version 26.0 will consider sample size, data skewness and kurtosis. Inference transferability considered the consistency of integrated data, data analysis, and conclusions from the context of data saturation (Clarke et al., 2019; Teddlie & Tashakorri, 2009). Immersive and repeated inductive coding and theme development are assumed to be subjective and interpretative processes that are strengthened through detailed engagement with the data (Braun et al., 2019; Braun & Clarke, 2006; Terry et al., 2017). Validation of descriptive and explanatory inferences reflect the researcher's consideration for the research questions, theoretical lens, and ability to explain or predict observations reached through critical reflexive thematic analysis (Braun et al., 2019; Braun & Clarke, 2006; Terry et al., 2007).

CHAPTER IV: RESULTS

The findings of the study are reported in four sections. The Sample Characteristics section will describe the participants major demographic characteristics and specify study-specific characteristics. The Descriptive Statistics section describes and summarizes study data measures of central tendency and dispersion. The Inferential Statistics section reports the results of analysis of relationships between Internet Addiction as measured by the Internet Addiction Test (IAT; Young, 2017a) and Self and Interpersonal Functioning based on the Alternative Model for Personality Disorders (AMPD) in Section III of the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (5th ed.; DSM–5; American Psychiatric Association, 2013) as measured by the Level of Personality Functioning—Brief Scale 2.0 (LFPS-BS 2.0; Weekers et al., 2018). The Reflexive Thematic Analysis section presents the explicit and implicit ideas, meanings, and concepts within the data relative to the focus of the study and the researcher's theoretical orientation.

Sample Characteristics

The sample was comprised of 363 adults age 25–39 in the United States who meet criteria for at least mild Internet Addiction as measured by the Internet Addiction Test (Young, 2017). Participants were randomly recruited through the Prolific academic research platform. Of the 400 respondents to the study recruitment, 363 met criteria for enrollment in the study. The average age of participants was 30 years. Men comprised 48.58% (n = 176), women 48.76% (n = 177), transgender 1.38% (n = 5), and other unspecified gender 1.38% (n = 5).

As shown in Tables 4.1, 4.2, and 4.3, and Figure 4.1, the demographic characteristics of the sample reflect diverse and relatively balanced representation within categories of gender, age, socioeconomic status, and level of Internet addiction. Exceptions include over-representation of

women in age group 35-39 (52.9%) and transgender in age group 25-29 (2.2%) as shown in Table 4.2. Women are over-represented by up to 7% in the three lowest-earning socioeconomic status groups and 18% in the highest earning group (see Table 4.3). Transgender are almost triple their representation in the lowest-earning socioeconomic group. Figure 4.1 presents a pattern of gender distribution with male representation increasing at higher income levels and female representation decreasing steadily until the highest group (n = 3) which includes two women who report annual earnings in excess of \$150,000. Although the study was not designed to generate a representative sample, due to the distribution of participants' sociodemographic characteristics the generalizability is increased.

Table 4.1

Sample Gender Characteristics

Gender (N=363)	Frequency	%
Male	176	48.58%
Female	177	48.76%
Trans	5	1.38%
Other	5	1.38%

Table 4.2

Sample Age Group and Gender Characteristics

Age	Frequency (N=363)	Male	Female	Trans	Other
25-29	185	49.2%	47.0%	2.2%	1.6%
30-34	108	48.1%	49.1%	0.9%	1.9%
35-39	70	47.1%	52.9%	0.0%	0.0%

Table 4.3

	Frequency					
Annual Earnings	(N=363)	%	Male	Female	Trans	Other
< \$15K	88	24.2%	40.9%	52.3%	4.5%	2.3%
\$15K - \$29,999	81	22.3%	43.2%	55.6%	1.2%	0.0%
\$30K - \$49,999	78	21.5%	47.4%	51.3%	0.0%	1.3%
\$50K - \$74,999	65	17.9%	53.8%	44.6%	0.0%	1.5%
\$75K - \$99,999	30	8.3%	63.3%	33.3%	0.0%	3.3%
\$100K - \$150K	18	5.0%	72.2%	27.8%	0.0%	0.0%
>\$150K	3	0.8%	33.3%	66.7%	0.0%	0.0%

Sample Socioeconomic Status and Gender Group Characteristics

Figure 4.1

Gender Representation in Socioeconomic Status



Descriptive Statistics

The sample (n = 363) was generated from a randomly recruited population of 400 adults each of whom completed the IAT, LPF-BF 2.0, and semi-structured interview. Based on this response rate, the prevalence of those exhibiting at least mild internet addiction exceeds 90%.

The sample size (n = 363) exceeded a priori power analysis estimates to detect moderate effect sizes at a significance level (α) of .05 in the relationships between Internet addiction and diminished self and interpersonal functioning.

Table 4.4 shows the results of descriptive statistical analysis of the variables Internet Addiction, Self-Functioning, and Interpersonal Functioning. Test of skewness and observation of the data found the variables Self-Functioning and Interpersonal Functioning are normally distributed. The variable Internet Addiction exhibits moderate positive skew of 1.099 with a standard error of skew of .128. This distribution is not considered extreme or worthy of correction for purposes of this type study (Hanneman et al., 2012). However, for purposes of demonstrating thorough analysis and reporting in this study, a conservative test was performed in SPSS 26.0 to correct the positive skew through transformation of the variable to fit the normal distribution model. A re-computation of inferential statistics with the transformed variable found conclusions consistent with the uncorrected variable within .004. Therefore, the uncorrected variable was retained.

Table 4.4

Descriptive Statistics for Variables Internet Addiction, Self-Functioning, and Interpersonal Functioning

N=363	Range	Min	Max	$\frac{\text{Mean}}{\overline{\mathbf{x}}}$	S	S2	Skewness	SE
Internet	69.00	31.00	100.00	47.41	12.18	148.35	1.099	.128
Addiction (IAT)								
Self	18.00	6.00	24.00	13.56	4.47	19.98	.060	.128
Functioning								
(LPFS-BF 2.0)								
Interpersonal	16.00	6.00	22.00	11.94	3.63	13.24	.281	.128
Functioning								
(LPFS-BF 2.0)								

Inferential Statistics

Variables exhibit normal distribution, linearity, and homoscedasticity therefore parametric analyses were performed. Bivariate statistical analysis using Pearson's r correlation was used to measure the relationships between Internet Addiction and Self- and Interpersonal functioning. The analysis identified statistically significant relationships between severity of Internet addiction and diminished Self functioning (r = .418, p = <.05) and Interpersonal functioning (r = .502, p = <.05; Table 4.5).

In the present study, Cronbach's alpha for IAT was .88, LPFS-BF 2.0 Self Functioning was .88, and LPFS-BF 2.0 Interpersonal Functioning was .76, consistent with previously referenced studies of internal consistency, further validating the reliability of these measures and the interpretability of the results.

Table 4.5

Intercorrelations for Stud	y Variables Internet Addiction	and Self Functioning

		Internet	Self	Interpersonal
		Addiction	Functioning	Functioning
N=363		(IAT)	(LPFS-BF 2.0)	(LPFS-BF 2.0)
Internet Addiction	Pearson r	1	$.418^{**}$.502**
Self Functioning	Pearson r	$.418^{**}$	1	
Interpersonal Functioning	Pearson r	.502**		1

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Reflexive Thematic Analysis

Reflexive thematic analysis (Alvesson & Sköldberg, 2018; Clark et al., 2019) informed inductive coding of 726 excerpts which produced 106 semantic codes that capture explicit meaning in participants' responses to the questions: (a) The Internet affects people's lives in different ways. How does the Internet affect your life? Please describe and explain at least two

examples of how the Internet affects your life; and (b) How are things going in your life with work, housing, and relationships? When responding describe each area as opposed to giving one-word answers.

Further analysis of the 106 semantic codes collated with the study data was guided by the research question and the researcher's theoretical orientation. From this work, two overarching latent themes of Seeking and Suffering establish concepts to explain the meaning of the data. These two overarching themes reflect participants' commonly articulated experiences. The overarching latent theme of Seeking is defined by the description of participants' use of the Internet to attempt to fulfill specific underlying desires. The latent theme of Suffering is defined by participant's experience of particular adverse outcomes as a direct result of their Internet use.

Working through the lens of Erikson's Psychosocial Developmental Theory (Erikson, 1968), rich and complex interconnections were identified among clusters of semantic codes which formed primary themes within each Seeking and Suffering latent theme. Figure 4.2 presents the interconnections between semantic codes within the Seeking latent theme, forming three primary codes titled: (a) Basic Trust & Autonomy with 17 semantic codes, (b) Initiative & Industry with 17 semantic codes, and (c) Identity & Intimacy with 13 semantic codes. Figure 4.3 presents primary themes within the Suffering latent theme titled: (a) Mistrust, Shame, & Doubt with 21 semantic codes, (b) Inferiority with 18 semantic codes, and (c) Role Confusion and Isolation with 20 semantic codes.

Latent Theme—"Seeking"

The definition of the latent theme of Seeking reflects participants' commonly and candidly articulated experiences of essential reliance on Internet use to attempt to pursue fulfillment of underlying desires. Participants commonly spoke of their Internet use arising from early age and prominently influencing their understanding of themselves, others, and the larger world. In accordance with Erikson's Psychosocial Developmental Theory, the latent theme of Seeking reflects attempts to resolve existential questions such as, "Can I trust the world? Is it okay to be me?" Resolution of these questions results in developmental achievement of specific competencies and virtues.

Seeking—Basic Trust and Autonomy Theme

The Basic Trust and Autonomy Theme is defined by participants' experience of using the Internet to attempt to gain a sense of safety and security, to control themselves and their response to the world around them. Participants frequently describe their Internet Use as attempts to seek relief from potential distress, to seek to regulate distressing emotions, and to seek to escape from actual and perceived sources of internal and external distress. Participants described feeling emotionally overwhelmed at the prospect of experiencing boredom. Some noted and attributed their Internet use to increasing difficulty focusing their attention on other people and activities without simultaneously being online. According to Erikson's Psychosocial Developmental Theory (1968), these expressions are consistent with attempts to answer the existential questions "Can I trust the world? Is it okay to be me?"

Seeking—Initiative and Industry Theme

The Initiative and Industry theme is defined by participant's experience of using the Internet in order to attempt to express initiative, pursue ambitions, to achieve competency, and to experience a sense of confidence in themselves. Participants emphasized their ability to "constantly" access "unlimited" information. Participants related this access to building their own knowledge, skills, and abilities without financial burdens in formal education or relational dependencies in having to turn to others. Participants' perceived value of this knowing was reflected in their observations about the impact of its potential loss. These reflections commonly contained more emotional salience than observations about potential or actual lost interpersonal relationships. According to Erikson's Psychosocial Developmental Theory (1968), these expressions are consistent with attempts to answer the existential questions "Is it okay for me to do, move, and act? Can I make it in the world of people and things?"

Seeking—Identity and Intimacy Theme

The Identity and Intimacy theme is defined by participants' experience of using the Internet to attempt to explore and find a sense of personal identity and to experience fulfilling relationships with others. Participants primarily relied on Internet use to seek, engage, and maintain social interactions and interpersonal relationships. An overwhelming number of responses noted their geographic isolation from family and loved ones. Internet use was often characterized as the mechanism for feeling a sense of connection to the world and to other people.

Respondents commonly preferred online over "real-life" social interactions. The perceived burden of effort required for "in-person" interactions was notably higher than required to engage in online interactions. According to Erikson's Psychosocial Developmental Theory (1968), these expressions are consistent with attempts to answer the existential questions "Who am I? Who can I be? Can I love?"

Figure 4.2

Primary Themes Within the Overarching Experience of Seeking in Internet Addiction



Latent Theme—"Suffering"

The Suffering latent theme is defined by participant's experiences of particular adverse outcomes which they attribute to resulting from their Internet use. Participants' commonly reflected on their lack of feeling a sense of safety and security when not using the Internet. Internet use was identified as a primary means of coping with perceived and actual sources of internal and external distress. Participants frequently described numerous unsuccessful attempts to stop their internet use. Participants expressed their inability to control their actions despite adverse effects on their physical and mental health, employment, families, and other interpersonal relationships.

Responses frequently characterized a sense of having lost control, being out of control, and feeling unable to take back control. Participants noted adverse outcomes arising from Internet use yet expressed fear at the prospect of not having the ability to engage in Internet use. In accordance with Erikson's Psychosocial Developmental Theory, the latent theme of Suffering reflects failed developmental attempts to resolve existential questions that results in inability to achievement specific competencies and virtues.

Suffering—Mistrust, Shame, and Doubt Theme. The Mistrust, Shame and Doubt theme is defined by participants' experiences of suffering with lack of a sense of safety and security within themselves and their surroundings, internalized shame, and doubt in their ability to withstand what might otherwise be considered normal life circumstances. Internet use was frequently characterized as a primary coping mechanism to manage immediate emotional distress. The concept of boredom as something to fear and avoid was pronounced.

Participants often reflected their Internet use was only effective in managing emotional distress in the moment, and ultimately it contributed either directly or indirectly to greater

distress. The sense of internalized shame was pronounced throughout the data. According to Erikson's Psychosocial Developmental Theory (1968), these expressions are consistent with failed attempts to answer the existential questions "Can I trust the world? Is it okay to be me?" resulting in the internalized beliefs that the world is not safe and it is not okay to be.

Suffering—Guilt and Inferiority Theme. The Guilt and Inferiority theme is defined by participants' experiences of inadequate achievement, feelings of failure, and sense of inability to adequately control themselves. Participants consistently remarked on their waste of time and resulting loss of productivity arising from Internet use. Internet use was characterized as a source of content to influence motivation and setting a standard by which participants measured themselves, frequently resulting in a sense of inadequacy.

Participants characterized their Internet use leading to feelings of discouragement and degradation of their motivation, aspirations, productivity, and achievement of professional and interpersonal goals. Self-criticism and inadequacy were conveyed in descriptions of failings in areas of self-care, family responsibilities, and work obligations. Participants acknowledged risk to their employment and lack of professional advancement arising from their Internet use, yet continued to engage in the behavior.

According to Erikson's Psychosocial Developmental Theory (1968), these expressions are consistent with failed attempts to answer the existential questions "Is it okay for me to do, move, and act? Can I make it in the world of people and things?" Erikson's model describes the results of these failed attempts as internalized beliefs that it is not okay to do, move and act; that it is not possible to make it in the world of people and things.

Suffering—Role Confusion and Isolation. The Role Confusion and Isolation theme is defined by participants' experiences of lacking sense of their own personal identity, relating to

others, and engaging in fulfilling interpersonal relationships. Some participants described themselves as having grown up on the Internet, gaining an understanding of themselves and the world through the Internet. Others noted that they engaged primarily in online relationships, lacked the ability to understand and even enjoy primarily in-person relationships. Participants reflected on their preference to present images of themselves through the managed interface of Internet use.

The perceived psychological burden of engaging in real-life socialization was described as higher and less desirable. Concepts of isolation and loneliness prevailed across the data, and some participants reflected on connections between these feelings and their predominantly online interactions. Some participants clearly described their feelings of remorse over the harm their Internet use caused to their spouses and children. However, other respondents acknowledged that their Internet use caused distress to others and conflict within relationships, home, and work environments—then characterized those relationships, home, and work environments as being in good standing or even ideal.

According to Erikson's Psychosocial Developmental Theory (1968), these expressions are consistent with failed attempts to answer the existential questions "Who am I? Who can I be? Can I love?" Erikson's model describes the results of these failed attempts as internalized sense of not knowing oneself, not being able to envision one's potential, diminished self-esteem, and inherent belief in one's unlovability.

Figure 4.3

Primary Themes Within the Overarching Experience of Suffering in Internet Addiction

Mistrust, Shame & Doubt (21)	Anxious Constant checking Depressed Difficulty focusing Can't fall asleep/awaken Can't stop thinking about it Distressed by online content Can't get offline to fall asleep Eye strain Forgetful/Hard to focus Unrealistic expectations for se	Poor self-esteem Inability to control Not enough sleep More easily bored Need to be on online Obsessively checking Online most free time Sedentary Shopping too much Self-critical elf	
Inferiority (18)	Lose track of time Neglectful Inconsiderate Online all the time Procrastinate Uninspired Unmotivated Wasted time Risk job to check phone	Behind at work Employment at risk Hard to tune it out House dirty Inconsiderate Not enough time to get things done Online more than plan Longer than I should	
Role Confusion & Isolation (20)	Alone in real-life Avoid people Angry spouse Damage marriage Dismiss children Don't talk to friends Ignore children Ignore spouse Isolated Disinterest in real-life contact	Lonely Anxious in face-to-face Avoid emotional relations Online friendships only Prefer online vs in-person Relationship distress Social media vs socializing Desire more friends Unsure making friends IRL Family perceives negatively	

Hypotheses Testing

Research Question 1

RQ1: What relationships exist among internet addiction, self and interpersonal functioning using the DSM-5 alternative model for personality development (AMPD)?

Internet Addiction was measured by the Internet Addiction Test (Young, 2017a). Self and Interpersonal functioning were measured by the Level of Personality Functioning—Brief Form 2.0 (Weekers et al., 2018) based on the *DSM-5* (APA, 2013) Alternative Model for Personality Disorders (AMPD). Correlational analysis was used to examine the relationship between Internet Addiction and Self Functioning.

Alt H1: Internet addiction will not be related to diminished Self- Functioning using the *DSM-5* (APA, 2013) Alternative Model for Personality Disorders (AMPD; p > 0).

Analysis confirmed statistically significant direct relationship between Internet Addiction and diminished Self Functioning, r (363) = .418, p < .01. These results suggest that people who experience Internet Addiction at increasing levels of severity experience increasingly diminished Self and Interpersonal Functioning as measured by the *DSM*-5 (APA, 2013) AMPD. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected.

Alt H2: Internet addiction will not be related to diminished Interpersonal Functioning using the DSM-5 (APA, 2013) Alternative Model for Personality Disorders (AMPD; p > 0).

Analysis confirmed statistically significant direct relationship between Internet Addiction and diminished Interpersonal Functioning, r (363) = .502, p < .01. These results suggest that people who experience Internet Addiction at increasing levels of severity experience increasingly diminished Interpersonal Functioning using the *DSM*-5 (APA, 2013) AMPD. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected.

Research Question 2

RQ2: How might the experience of internet addiction in relation to self and interpersonal functioning influence case conceptualization based on Erikson's Psychosocial Development Theory?

The results of this study suggest that individuals exhibiting Internet addiction are engaged in unsuccessful attempts to achieve mastery and develop specific virtues of Will, Purpose, Competency, Fidelity, and Love (Erikson, 1968). Latent and primary themes might aid in the understanding of clients and their current problems, inform treatment selection and intervention techniques, and contribute to the process of client-centered monitoring of treatment progress and client change.

CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION

The present study was conducted to explore the relationships between Internet addiction and Self and Interpersonal Functioning based on a dimensional diagnostic model, the Alternative Model for Personality Disorders (AMPD). The study also sought to understand how participants' experiences of Internet addiction might inform case conceptualization based on Erikson's Psychosocial Developmental Theory. Additional consideration was given to the sample characteristics and insights such as social and cultural considerations at the time of the study. **Question 1: What relationships exist among internet addiction, self and interpersonal functioning using the DSM-5 alternative model for personality development (AMPD)?**

In this study of adults age 25–39, statistically significant relationships were identified between Internet addiction and Self and Interpersonal functioning, demonstrating that Internet addiction predicts impaired Self and Interpersonal functioning. These findings provide more clarity to the problem of Internet addiction and the benefits of using alternative, dimensional models in the clinical assessment of problematic Internet use.

The present study appears to support a theory of Internet addiction as a coping mechanism in which individuals who are far beyond adolescence and early adulthood respond to increasing severity of Internet addiction with progressively diminished self and interpersonal functioning which are significantly below the level expected for their developmental stage. The findings further suggest that Internet addiction might also predict changes to personality and increasingly diminished personality functioning beyond early adulthood as opposed to the prevailing understanding of personality development reaching final adult levels at about age 30 then remaining stable with few, subtle changes (McCrae & Costa, 1994).

Question 2: How might the experience of Internet addiction in relation to Self and Interpersonal functioning influence case conceptualization based on the psychosocial theory of development?

The experience of Internet in relation to Self and Interpersonal functioning reflects expressed desire to achieve specific psychosocial developmental stages as well as professed suffering relative to failed achievements. Latent themes of Seeking and Suffering reflect these experiences. The primary Seeking codes of Basic Trust and Autonomy, Initiative and Industry, and Identity and Intimacy reflect the expected psychosocial competencies expected to result from successful achievement of specific developmental stages (Erikson, 1963). The primary Suffering codes of Mistrust, Shame and Doubt, Guilt and Inferiority, and Role Confusion and Isolation. Figures 2 and 3 explicate all codes within these categories, further informing the interpretation of the Internet Addiction Test (IAT) and Level of Personality Functioning – Brief Form 2.0 (LPF-BF 2.0) within the alternative dimensional model of diagnosis.

Broad Findings and Themes

Previous Internet addiction studies have elucidated personality traits (Landers & Lounsbury, 2006; Leung, 2007; Lo et al., 2005; Whang et al., 2003), psychological states (Armstrong et al., 2000; Chak & Leung, 2004; Fioravanti et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2006), comorbid psychological disorders (Kim et al., 2006; Yoo et al., 2004), environmental and psychosocial developmental factors (Byun et al., 2009; Caplan, 2007; Dukuee et al., 2012; Kuss et al., 2014; Morahan-Martin & Schumacher, 2000; Young & Abreu, 2011), and adverse effects associated with Internet addiction (Young & Abreu, 2011). Internet addition research is largely exploratory in nature, investigating the relationship of specific risks and contributing factors of Internet addiction focused on adolescents and young adults. Poor internal and external validity, limited generalizability, invalid statistics, and

over-reaching claims based on anecdotal observations using screening tools adapted from traditional substance abuse criteria are prominent throughout Internet addiction research (Billieux et al., 2015; Byun et al., 2009; Cash et al., 2012; Chou et al., 2005; Christakis, 2010; Douglas et al., 2008; Kuss et al., 2014; van Rooij & Kardefelt-Winther, 2017).

Internet addiction has been theorized as arising from attachment insecurity or adverse childhood experiences (Schimmenti et al., 2014). Literature supports the role of attachment and Internet addiction with insecure (Lin et al., 2011; Severinoa & Craparob, 2013), anxious and avoidant (Shin et al., 2009) and dismissive, preoccupied attachment styles (Odacı & Çıkrıkçı, 2014) all confirmed risk factors for development and maintenance of Internet addiction. Secure attachment negatively predicts Internet addiction; overall attachment accounts for up to 14% of Internet addiction severity whereas Identity styles account for up to 30% of variance (Monacis et al., 2017).

Internet addiction has been theorized as a coping mechanism (Kardefelt-Winther, 2017). Emotion regulation difficulties are significant antecedents and predictors of the development and maintenance of Internet addiction and the severity of symptoms (Billieux & van der Linden, 2012; Ceyhan et al., 2019; Estevez et al., 2017; Oktan, 2011). Gender-unique symptoms of psychological distress indicate that emotion regulation difficulties in females and traumatic memories in males increase the risk of Internet addiction onset during late adolescence.

Psychosocial developmental approaches to Internet addiction research have demonstrated significant relationships between increased time spent on the Internet and failure to resolve Identity and Intimacy crises within the context of Erikson's Psychosocial Developmental model (Huang, 2006; Kandell, 1998). The present study appears to support a theory of Internet addiction as a coping mechanism in which individuals who are far beyond adolescence and early adulthood respond to increasing severity of Internet addiction with progressively diminished coping abilities that are remarkably below the level expected for their developmental stage.

Limitations

This study is limited by design to not allow for determination of causation of Internet addiction nor to perform analysis to identify statistically significant relationships beyond the variables in scope for the study. Additionally, participants for the study were recruited through an online platform which indicates their familiarity with and use of the Internet. Participants between the ages of 25–39 in the United States increases the likelihood that they have been exposed to computer use and Internet access from a young age (Influence Central, 2016). These factors might have contributed to the over 90% rate of Internet Addiction observed in the population from which the sample (N = 363) was recruited.

Data collection for the study occurred in early April 2020 during a period of social and cultural upheaval associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result of the pandemic, people who might have otherwise worked outside the home might have been working remotely or even experienced breaks in employment. While responses specific to these circumstances were removed from the data prior to reflective thematic analysis, the possibility of circumstantial influence on the broader response set remains.

Another limitation of the design of this study is the collection of qualitative data using open-ended, space constrained questionnaires. This limitation might have resulted in truncated responses. Unlimited space for response or in-person interviews might have generated richer narrative and insights.

Strengths

This study reflects multiple strengths which result in unique and clinically useful contributions to the field of Internet addiction. First, the mixed methods design produces increased insight that might inform efforts currently underway to firm up basic theories and definitions of Internet addiction which are lacking in the field (van Rooij & Kardefelt-Winther, 2017). The sheer scope of qualitative data generated through this study exceeds previous instances in the literature (Kuss et al., 2014). Additional strengths of this study relate to the quality of the sample which is comprised of a large (N = 393), diverse and representative group based on gender and socioeconomic status.

All participants were age 25–39, in the United States, and meet criteria for at least Mild Internet addiction—all variables which are uncommon in literature (Kuss et al., 2014). Exhaustive search of academic databases did not produce similar studies focused on this age range in which all participants were experiencing Internet addiction. A final strength of this study is that it provides evidence of the effects of Internet addiction which helps to strengthen an evidence base which does not currently substantiate the nature and severity of effects that are comparable to substance use disorders (van Rooij & Kardefelt-Winther, 2017).

Other Factors for Consideration

Several factors to consider relative to participants' experience of Internet addiction include the psychosocial developmental impact and prevailing sociological effects of normative, pervasive Internet use from very early developmental stages. Culturally sensitive, dimensional models of assessment, diagnosis, psychoeducation and interventions through a psychosocial developmental lens could improve clinical outcomes by focusing simultaneously on resolving psychosocial development issues and reducing the impact of Internet addiction. Harm reduction approaches to Internet addiction might reduce the stigma that accompanies addiction diagnoses while acknowledging the impracticalities of entirely eliminating Internet use. The pervasive nature of contemporary Internet use reflects what might be considered normalized dependence in order to achieve optimal health and social inclusion.

Implications

The implications of this study include the potential for increased clarity of the conceptualization and definition of Internet addiction, re-evaluation of the criteria for Internet addiction, and the use of dimensional models of assessment and diagnosis of Internet addiction. The results of this study have also informed the clinical case formulation and selection of treatments to focus on resolution of psychosocial developmental issues.

Further implications include reconsideration of the prevalence of Internet addiction in the context of pervasive Internet use where motivations might shift at various stages of psychosocial development, resulting in differing clinical presentations of diminished Self and Interpersonal functioning. These differences might reflect cultural dimensions that are yet to be considered.

Recommendations for Future Research

Recommendations for future research include studies to advance the field of Internet addiction and contribute to efforts focused on alternative and dimensional models of diagnosis. Specifically, a grounded theory study with quantitative data collected from the clinical use of a dimensional approach to assessment and diagnosis of Internet addiction integrated with qualitative data collected in semi-structured interviews with those experiencing Internet addiction. Although not a part of this critical reflexive thematic analysis by design, the richness and complexity of data might inform future experiential reflexive thematic analysis. This approach would ideally make tacit meanings and processes of Internet addiction and diminished Self and Interpersonal functioning explicit, reducing theoretical conflicts among researchers and producing standardized definitions and criteria for Internet addiction.

Participant responses in this study that might further inform future experiential reflexive thematic analysis include: "I spend too much time online even though I know I should pay more attention to my children," "I don't feel I need to achieve much in life because I get enough enjoyment out of the things I do online, even though the things I do are pointless and nothing worthwhile comes from them," "The internet gives me an out to express myself in ways I can't offline; I can be anyone I want online versus being the person everyone knows," "Having grown up using the Internet, I feel that it has shaped my personality both positively and negatively. It's made me a curious and inquisitive person who always looks for answers. It shaped me negatively by limiting my social skills to an online world and that severely impacts my personal relationships. Both romantic and platonic relationships have been non-existent in my life for the last few years. I think Internet use definitely negatively affects my mental well-being and happiness."

Standardized definitions and criteria for Internet Addiction would inform longer-term research focused on the transdiagnostic (Harvey et al., 2004) psychological and behavioral processes that underpin a broad array of behavioral addiction presentations in order to focus on specific treatments (Barlow et al., 2004). Translational approaches to such research might advance clinical usefulness as well as broad public health interventions and prevention programs. Research might also explore how advances in technology combined with pervasive Internet use might impact current understanding of personality development and the resulting sociological and psychological effects.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this study supports the position that Internet addiction predicts diminished Self and Interpersonal Functioning and the experience of Internet addiction embodies aspects of both Seeking and Suffering. The present study appears to support a theory of Internet addiction as a coping mechanism in which individuals who are far beyond adolescence and early adulthood respond to increasing severity of Internet addiction with progressively diminished self and interpersonal functioning which are significantly below the level expected for their developmental stage. The findings further suggest that Internet addiction might also predict changes to personality and increasingly diminished personality functioning beyond early adulthood, raising questions of the implications for the impact of technology on prevailing views of personality development.

The field of Internet addiction is burdened by conflicting theoretical views, lack of standardized definitions and criteria, and reliance on measures adapted from substance abuse criteria. The present study might contribute to resolving aspects of these challenges. Future research could advance efforts toward achieving full resolution of the issues with clinically useful and culturally sensitive dimensional diagnostic criteria and evidence-based interventions.

87

References

Alvesson, M., & Sköldberg, K. (2018). Reflexive methodology, (3rd ed.). SAGE Publications.

- American Psychiatric Association. (1980). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (3rd ed.). American Psychiatric Publishing.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed., Text Revision). American Psychiatric Publishing.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). American Psychiatric Publishing.
- American Psychological Association. (1994). *Publication manual of the american psychological association* (4th ed.). Author.
- Armstrong, L., Phillips, J., & Saling, L. (2000). Potential determinants of heavier Internet usage. International Journal of Human–Computer Studies, 53, 537–550. http://doi.org/10.1006/ijhc.2000.0400

Bai, Y-M., Lin, C-C., & Chen, J-Y. (2001). Internet addiction disorder among clients of a virtual

- clinic, *Psychiatric Services* [Letter], 52(10), 1397.
- Barke, A., Nyenhuis, N., & Kröner-Herwig, B. (2012). The German version of the internet addiction test: A validation study. *CyberPsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 15(10), 534–542.
- Barlow, D. H., Allen, L. B., & Choate, M. L. (2004). Toward a unified treatment for emotional disorders. *Behavior Therapy*, 35(2), 205–230.
- Beard, K. W., & Wolf, E. M. (2001). Modification in the proposed diagnostic criteria for internet addiction. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, *4*(3), 377–383.

- Bender, D. S., Skodol, A. E., First, M. B., & Oldham, J. M. (2017). Structured clinical interview for the DSM-5[®] alternative model for personality disorders (SCID-5-AMPD) module I: Level of personality functioning scale. American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Bernardi, S., & Pallanti, S. (2009). Internet addiction: A descriptive clinical study focusing on comorbities and dissociative symptoms. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, *50*(6), 510–516.

Billieux, J., Schimmenti, A., Khazaal Y., Maurage, P., & Heeren A. (2015). Are we over pathologizing everyday life? A tenable blueprint for behavioral addiction research. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 4, 119–123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1556/2006.4.2015.009</u>

Billieux, J., & Van der Linden, M. (2012). Problematic use of the Internet and self-regulation: AReview of the Initial Studies. *Open Addiction Journal*, 5(1), 24–29.

Black, D., Belsare, G., & Schlosser, S. (1999). Clinical features, psychiatric comorbidity, and health related quality of life in persons reporting compulsive computer use behavior. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 60(12), 839–843. <u>http://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.v60n1206</u>

- Boileau, I., Payer, D., Chugani, B., Lobo, D., Behzadi, A., Rusjan, P. M., ... & Zack, M. (2012).
 The D2/3 dopamine receptor in pathological gambling: a positron emission tomography study with [11C]-(+)-propyl-hexahydro-naphtho-oxazin and [11C]raclopride *Addiction*, *108*, 953–963. http://doi.org/10.1111/add.12066
- Brand, M., Young, K. S., Laier, C., Wölfling, K., & Potenza, M. N. (2016). Integrating psychological and neurobiological considerations regarding the development and maintenance of specific Internet-use disorders: An interaction of person-affect-cognitionexecution(I-PACE) model. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 71, 252–266. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.08.033</u>

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2) 77–101. <u>http://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a</u>
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise, and Health*, 11(4), 589–597. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019. 1628806
- Brenner, V. (1997). Psychology of computer use: XLVII. Parameters of internet use, abuse, and addiction: The first 90 days of the Internet Usage Survey. *Psychological Reports*, 80(3), 879–882. <u>http://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.1997.80.3.879</u>
- Brenner, V. (2002). Generalizability issues in internet-based survey research: Implications for the internet addiction controversy. In B. Batinic, U. Reips, M. Bosnjak, & A. Werner (Eds.), *Online Social Sciences* (1st ed., pp. 117–136).
- Buhrmester, M., Kwang, T., & Gosling, S. D. (2011). Amazon's mechanical turk: A new source of inexpensive yet high-quality data? *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 6(1), 3–5 + supplement.
- Byun, S., Ruffini, C., Mills, J., Douglas, A., Niang, M., Stepchenkova, S., Lee, S. K., Loutfi, J., Lee, J-K., Atallah, M., & Blanton, M. (2009). Internet addiction: Metasynthesis of 1996–2006 quantitative research. *CyberPsychology and Behavior*, 12(2), 203–207.
- Callan, M. J., Kim, H., Gheorghiu, A. I., & Matthews, W. J. (2016). The interrelations between social class, personal relative deprivation, and prosociality. *Social Psychology and Personality Science*, 8(6), 660–669.
- Caplan, S. (2002). Problematic internet use and psychosocial well-being: Development of a theory-based cognitive–behavioral measurement instrument. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 18(5), 553–575. <u>http://doi/org/10.1016/S0747-5632(02)00004-3</u>

- Caplan, S. (2003). Preference for online social interaction: A theory of problematic internet use and psychosocial well-being. *Communication Research*, 30, 625–648. http://doi.org/10.1177/0093650203257842
- Caplan, S. (2005). A social skill account of problematic internet use. *Journal of Communication*, 55, 721–736.
- Caplan, S. E. (2007). Relations among loneliness, social anxiety, and problematic internet use. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, *10*(2), 234–242.
- Carli, V., Durkee, T., Wasserman, D., Hadlaczky, G., Despalins, R., Kramarz, E., Wasserman, C., Sarchiapone, M., Hoven, C. W., Brunner, R., & Kaess, M. (2013). The association between pathological internet use and comorbid psychopathology: A systematic review. *Psychopathology*, 46, 1–13. <u>http://doi.org/10.1159/000337971</u>
- Caruso, D. (September 14, 1998). Technology; critics are picking apart a professor's study that linked internet use to loneliness and depression. *The New York Times*.
- Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (CSAT). (2006). Detoxification and substance abuse
 treatment. Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series, No. 45. HHS Publication No.
 (SMA) 15-4131. Rockville, MD: Center for Substance Abuse Treatment, 2006.
- CERN. (n.d.). The birth of the web. <u>https://home.cern/science/computing/birth-web</u>
- Ceyhan, A. A., & Ceyhan, E. (2008). Loneliness, depression, and computer self-efficacy as predictors of problematic internet use. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 11(6), 699–701. <u>http://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2007.0255</u>

- Ceyhan, E., Boysan, M., & Kadak, M. T. (2019). Associations between online addiction, attachment style, emotion regulation, depression and anxiety in general population:
 Testing the proposed diagnostic criteria for internet addiction. *Sleep and Hypnosis*, 21(2), 123–139. http://dx.doi.org/10.5350/Sleep.Hypn.2019.21.0181
- Chak, K., & Leung, L. (2004). Shyness and locus of control as predictors of internet addiction and internet use. *CyberPsychology and Behavior*, 7(5), 559–570.
- Charlton, J. P., & Danforth, I. D. W. (2010). Validating the distinction between computer addiction and engagement: Online game playing and personality. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 29(6), 601–613.
- Choi, J-S., Park, S. M., Lee, J., Hwan, J. Y., Jung, H. Y., Choi, S-W., Kim, D. J., Oh, S., & Lee, J-Y. (2013). Resting-state beta and gamma activity in internet addiction. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 89, 328–333.
- Christakis, D. A. (2010). Internet addiction: A 21st century epidemic? *Medicine*, 8(61), 1–3. http://doi.org/doi:10.1186/1741-7015-8-61
- Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2019). *Guidelines for Reviewers and Editors Evaluating Thematic Analysis Manuscripts*. Retrieved from: <u>https://cdn.auckland.ac.nz/assets/psych/about/our-</u> research/documents/TA%20website%20update%2010.8.17%20review%20checklist.pdf
- Clarke, V., Braun, V., Terry, G & Hayfield N. (2019). Thematic analysis. In P. Liamputtong (Ed.), *Handbook of research methods in health and social sciences* (pp. 843–860).Springer.

Computing Technology Industry Association (CompTIA). (n.d.). https://www.comptia.org

Conrad, P., & Schneider, J. (1992). *Deviance and Medicalization: From Badness to Sickness* (Expanded ed.). Temple University Press.

- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2017). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Czincz, J., & Hechanova, R. (2009). Internet addiction: Debating the diagnosis. *Journal of Technology in Human Services*, 27, 257–272.

http://doi.org/10.1080/15228830903329815

- Darnai, G., Perlaki, G., Zsidó, A. N., Inhóf, O., Orsi, G., Horváth, R., Nagy, S. A., Lábdi, B., Tényi, D., Kovács, N., Dóczi, T., Demetrovics, Z., & Zanszky, J. (2019). Internet addiction and functional brain networks: Task-related fMRI study. *Scientific Reports*, 9. <u>http://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-52296-1</u>
- Davis, R. A. (2001). A cognitive-behavioral model of pathological internet use. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 17, 187–195.
- Davis, C., & Loxton, N. J. (2013). Addictive behaviors and addiction-prone personality traits:
 Associations with a dopamine multilocus genetic profile. *Addictive Behaviors, 38*, 2306-2312. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.02.012
- Dong, G., Huang, J., & Du, X. (2011). Enhanced reward sensitivity and decreased loss sensitivity in internet addicts: An fMRI study during a guessing task. *Journal of Psychological Research*, 2011. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016.j.psychires.2011.06.017</u>
- Dong, G., Lu, Q., Zhou, H., & Zhao, X. (2011). Precursor or sequela: Pathological disorders in people with internet addiction disorder. *Public Library of Science One*, 6(2).
- Dong, G., Zhou, H., & Zhao, X. (2011). Male internet addicts show impaired executive control ability: Evidence from a color-word stroop task. *Neuroscience Letters*, 499, 114–118. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2011.05.047</u>

- Dong, G., Wang, J., Yang, X., & Zhous, H. (2012). Risk personality traits of internet addiction:
 A longitudinal study of internet-addicted chinese university students. *Asia-Pacific Psychiatry*, 5(2013), 316–321. <u>http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1758-5872.2012.00185.x</u>
- Durkee, T., Kaess, M., Carli, V., Parzer, P., Wasserman, C., Floderus, B., Apter, A., Balazs, J.,
 Barzilay, S., Bobes, J., Brunner, R., Corcoran, P., Cosman, D., Cotter, P., Despalins, R.,
 Graber, N., Guillemin, F., Haring, C., Kahn,... & Wasserman, D. (2012). Prevalence of
 pathological internet use among adolescents in europe: Demographic and social factors. *Addiction*, 107(12), 2210–2222.
- Egger, O., & Rauterberg, G. W. M. (1996). Internet behaviour and addiction. Swiss Federal Institute of Technology.
- Erikson, E. H. (1959). Identity and the Life Cycle. New York: International Universities Press.

Erikson, E. H. (1968). Identity Youth and crisis. W. W. Norton.

- Estévez, A., Jáuregui, P., Sánchez-Marcos, I., López-González, H., and Griffiths, M. D. (2017).
 Attachment and emotion regulation in substance addictions and behavioral addictions.
 Journal of Behavioral Addictions, 6(4), 534–544. <u>http://10.1556/2006.6.2017.086</u>
- Eysenck, H. J. (1997). Addiction, personality, and motivation. *Human Psychopharmacology*, *12*, S79–S87.
- Ferraro, G., Caci, B., D'amico, A., & Blasi, M. D. (2007). Internet addiction disorder: An Italian study. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 10(2), 170–175.
- Fioravanti, G., Dèttore, D., & Casale, S. (2012). Adolescent internet addiction: Testing the association between self-esteem, the perception of internet attributes, and preference for online social interactions. *CyberPsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 15*(6), 318–323.

- Fisoun, V. M., Georgios, M. D., Siomos, K., Geroukalis, D, & Navridis, K. (2012). Internet addiction as an important predictor in early detection of adolescent drug use experience: Implications for research and practice. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 6(1), 77–84. http://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.0b013e318233d637
- Floros, G., & Siomos, K. (2014). Excessive internet use and personality traits. *Current Behavioral Neuroscience Reports*, 1, 19–26. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s40473-014-0006-1</u>
- Floros, G. Siomos, K., Stogiannidou, A., Giouzepas, I., & Garyfallos, G. (2014). Comorbidity of psychiatric disorders with internet addiction in a clinical sample: The effect of personality, defense style and psychopathology. *Addictive Behavior*, *39*, 1839–1845. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016.j.addbeh.2014.07.031</u>
- Frances, A. (2012). DSM-5 is a guide, not a bible—simply ignore its 10 worst changes.
 Retrieved from <u>http://www.psychiatrictimes.com/blogs/dsm-5/dsm-5-guide-not-bible</u>
 <u>simply-ignore-its-10-worst-changes</u>
- Fu, K. W., Chan, W. S., Wong, P. W., & Yip, P. S. (2010). Internet addiction: prevalence, discriminant validity and correlates among adolescents in Hong Kong. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 196(6), 6.
- Gambino, B., & Shaffer, H. J. (1979). The concept of paradigm and the treatment of addiction. *Professional Psychologist, 10*, 207–223.
- Garfinkle, S. L., & Grunspan, R. H. (2018). The computer book: From the abacus to artificial intelligence, 250 milestones in the history of computer science. Sterling.
- Gervasi, A. M., La Marca, L., Lombardo, E. M., Mannino, G., Iacolino, C., & Schimmenti, A. (2017). Maladaptive personality traits and internet addiction symptoms among young adults: A study based on the alternative DSM-5 model for personality disorders. *Clinical Neuropsychology*, 14(1).
- Ghassemzadeh, L., Shahraray, M., & Moradi, A. (2008). Prevalence of internet addiction and comparison of internet addicts and non-addicts in Iranian high schools. *CyberPsychology* & *Behavior*, *11*(6), 731–733.
- Goldberg, I. (1996). Internet Addictive Disorder (IAD) diagnostic criteria. Available from: <u>http://www.webcitation.org/query?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.psycom.net%2Fiadcriteri</u> a.html&date=2013-02-06
- Goslar, M., Leibetseder, M., Muench, H. M., Hofmann, S. G., & Laireiter, A-R. (2020).
 Treatments for internet addiction, sex addiction, and compulsive buying: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 9(1), 14.43.
 http://doi.org/10.1556/2006.2020.00005
- Grant, J. E., Atmaca, M., Fineberg, N. A., Fontenelle, L. F., Matsunaga, H., Reddy, Y. C. J., ... Stein, D. J. (2014). Impulse control disorders and "behavioural addictions" in the ICD-11. World Psychiatry, 13(2), 125–127. <u>http://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20115</u>
- Grant, J. E., Potenza, M. N., Weinstein, A., & Gorelick, D. A. (2010). Introduction to behavioral addictions. *American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 36(5), 233–241. http://doi.org/10.3109/00952990.2010.491884
- Greenfield, D. N. (1999) Psychological characteristics of compulsive internet use: A preliminary analysis. *CyberPsychology and Behavior*, 8(5).

Griffiths, M. D. (1995). Technological addictions. Clinical Psychology Forum, 76, 14–19.

- Griffiths, M. (1996). Behavioural addiction: an issue for everybody? *The Journal of Workplace Learning*, 8(3), 19–25.
- Griffiths, M. D. (1999) Internet addiction: Internet fuels other addictions. *Student British Medical Journal*, 7, 428–429.
- Griffiths, M. (2005). A 'components' model of addiction within a biopsychosocial framework. *Journal of Substance Use, 10*(4), 191–197.
- Griffiths, M. D. (2019). The evolution of the 'components model of addiction' and the need for a confirmatory approach in conceptualizing behavioral addictions. *The Journal of Psychiatry and Neurological Sciences*, 32, 179–184.
- Griffiths, M. D., van Rooij, A., J., Kardefelt-Winther, D., Starcevic, V., Király, O., Pallesen, S.,
 Müller, K., Dreier, M., Carras, M., Prause, N., King, D. L., Aboujaoude, El, Kuss, D. J.,
 Pontes, H. M., Lopez-Fernandez, O., Nagygyorgy, K., Achab, S., Billieux, J., Quandt, T.,
 &...Demetrovics, Z. (2016). Working towards an international consensus on criteria for
 addressing internet gaming disorder: A critical commentary on Petry et al. (2014). *Addiction*, 111(1), 167–175. <u>http://doi.org/10.1111/add.13057</u>
- Grohol, J. M. (1999). Too much time online: Internet addiction or health social interaction. *CyberPsychology and Behavior, 2*, 395–401.
- Grüsser, S., Poppelreuter, S., Heinz, A., Albrecht, U., & Sass, H. (2007). Behavioural addiction: an independent diagnostic category? *Nervenarzt*, 78(9), 997.

http://doi.org/10.1007/s00115-007-2281-5

Guertler, D., Broda, A., Bischof, A., Kastirke, N., Meerkerk, G. J., & Rumpf, H. J. (2014).
Factor structure of the compulsive internet use scale. *CyberPsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 17(1), 46–51. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2013.0076</u>

- Hagedorn, W. B. (2009). The call for a new Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders diagnosis: Addictive disorders. *Journal of Addictions & Offender Counseling*, 29(2), 110–127. <u>http://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1874.2009.tb00049.x</u>
- Halfhill, T. (December, 1986). The MS-DOS invasion: IBM compatibles are coming home. *Compute! Magazine, 8*(12), 32–38.

https://www.commodore.ca/gallery/magazines/compute/Compute-079-1986.pdf

- Hanneman, R. A., Kposowa, A. J., Riddle, M. D. (2012). Basic statistics for social research: Research methods for the social sciences book 38. Jossey-Bass.
- Harvey, A. G., Watkins, E., Mansell, W., & Shafran, R. (Eds.). (2004). Cognitive behavioural processes across psychological disorders: A transdiagnostic approach to research and treatment. Oxford University Press.
- Hawi, N. S. (2013). Arabic validation of the internet addiction test. *CyberPsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 16*(3), 200–204.
- Hayes, S. C., Wilson, K. G., Gifford, E. V., Follette, V. M., & Strosahl, K. (1996). Experiential avoidance and behavioral disorders: A functional dimensional approach to diagnosis and treatment. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 64(6), 1152–1168. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.64.6.1152
- He, W., Qi, A., Wang, Q., Wu, H., Zhang, Z., Gu, R., & Luo, W. (2017). Abnormal reward and punishment sensitivity associated with Internet addicts. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 75, 678–683.

- Helmersson Bergmark, K. (2017). Behavioral addictions A social science perspective The Department of Sociology Working Paper Series. https://doi.org/10.17045/sthlmuni.5726737
- Holst, A. (2020). Smartphones in the U.S. statistics & facts. *Statista*. https://www.statista.com/topics/2711/us-smartphone-market/
- Hou, H., Jia, S, Hu, S., Fan, R., Sun, W., Sun, T., & Zhang, H. (2012). Reduced striatal dopamine transporters in people with internet addiction disorder. *Journal of Biomedicine* and Biotechnology, 2012. <u>http://doi.org/10.1155/2012/854524</u>
- Huang, Y-R. (2006). Identity and intimacy crises and their relationship to internet dependence among college students. *CyberPsychology and Behavior*, 9(5), 571–576. https://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2006.9.571
- Huang, Z., Wang, M., Qian, M., Zhong, J., & Tao, R. (2007). Chinese internet addiction inventory: Developing a measure of problematic internet use for Chinese college students. *CyberPsychology and Behavior*, 10(6), 805–811.

Influence Central. (2016). Kids & tech: The evolution of today's digital natives.

http://blog.influence-central.com/kids-tech-the-evolution-of-todays-digital-natives/

International Advisory Group for the Revision of the ICD-10 Mental and Behavioural Disorders (2011). A conceptual framework for the revision of the ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders. *World Psychiatry*, *10*, 86–92.

International Data Corporation (IDC). (n.d.). ICT spending forecast: 2018–2022.

https://www.idc.com/promo/global-ict-spending/forecast

Internet Live Stats. (2016). Elaboration of data by International Telecommunication Union (ITU), United Nations Population Division, Internet & Mobile Association of India (IAMAI), World Bank. <u>https://www.internetlivestats.com/internet-users-by-country/</u>

- Johansson, A., & Götestam, K. G. (2004). Internet addiction: Characteristics of a questionnaire and prevalence in norwegian youth (12–18 years). *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 45(3), 223–229.
- Joutsa, J., Saunavaara, J., Parkkola, R., Niemela, S., & Kaasinen, V. (2011). Extensive abnormality of brain white matter integrity in pathological gambling. *Psychiatry Research*, 194(3), 340–46.
- Kandell, J. J. (1998). Internet addiction on campus: The vulnerability of college students. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, *1*, 11–17.
- Kaptsis, D., King, D. L., Delfabbro, P. H., & Gradisar, M. (2016). Withdrawal symptoms in internet gaming disorder: A systematic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 43, 58–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2015.11.006</u>
- Karaer, Y., & Akdemir, D. (2019). Parenting styles, perceived social support and emotion regulation in adolescents with internet addiction. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 92, 22–27.
- Kardefelt-Winther, D. (2014a). Problematizing excessive online gaming and its psychological predictors. *Computers in Human Behavior, 31*, 118–122.
- Kardefelt-Winther, D. (2014b). A conceptual and methodological critique of internet addiction research: Towards a model of compensatory internet use. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 31(1), 351–354. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2013.10.059</u>

- Kardefelt-Winther, D. (2017). Conceptualizing internet use disorders: Addiction or coping mechanism? *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 71, 459–466. http://doi.org/10.1111/pen.12413
- Kardefelt-Winther, D., Heeren, A., Schimmenti, A., van Rooij, A., Maurage, P., Carras, M., Edman, J., Blaszczynski, A., Khazaal, Y., & Billieux, J. (2017). How can we conceptualize behavioural addiction without pathologizing common behaviours? *Addiction*, 112, 1709–1715. <u>http://doi.org/10.1111/add.13763</u>
- Kato, T. A., Shinfuku, N., & Tateno, M. (2020). Internet society, internet addiction, and pathological social withdrawal: The chicken and egg dilemma for internet addiction and hikikomori. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, *33*(3), 264–270.
 http://doi.org/10.1097/YCO.00000000000000001
- Kayiş, A. R., Satici, S. A., Yilmaz, M. F., Şimşek, D., Ceyhan, E., & Bakioğlu, F. (2016). Big 5 personality trait and internet addiction: A meta-analytic review. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 63, 35–40. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.05.012</u>
- Khazaal, Y., Billieux, J., Thorens, G., Khan, R., Louati, Y., Scarlatti, E., & Zullino, D. (2008).
 French validation of the Internet addiction test. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 11(6), 703–706.
- Kim, K., & Kim, K. (2015). Internet game addiction, parental attachment, and parenting of adolescents in South Korea. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Substance Abuse*, 24(6), 366–371. <u>http://doi.org/10.1080/1067828x.2013.872063</u>
- Kim, J., LaRose, R., & Peng, W. (2009). Loneliness as the cause and the effect of problematic
 Internet use: The relationship between Internet use and psychological well-being.
 Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 12(4), 451–455.

Kim, K., Ryu, E., Chon, M., Yeun, E., Choi, S., Seo, S., & Nam, B. (2006). Internet addiction in Korean adolescents and its relation to depression and suicidal ideation: A questionnaire survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 43, 185–192.

http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2005.02.005

- Kim, S. H., Baik, S. H., Park, C. S., Kim, S. J., Choi, S. W., & Kim, S. E. (2011). Reduced striatal dopamine D2 receptors in people with Internet addiction. *Neuroreport*, 22(8), 407–411. <u>http://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e328346e16e</u>
- King, D., & Delfabbro, P. (2014). Is preoccupation an oversimplification? A call to examine cognitive factors underlying internet gaming disorder. *Addiction*, 109, 1566–1670.
- King, D., Delfabbro, P., & Griffiths, M. (2010). Cognitive behavioral therapy for problematic video game players: Conceptual considerations and practice issues. *Journal of Cyber Therapy and Rehabilitation*, 3(3), 261–273.
- Király, O., Griffiths, M. D., & Demetrovics, Z. (2015). Internet Gaming Disorder and the DSM-5: Conceptualization, debates, and controversies. *Current Addiction Reports*, 2(3), 254–262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40429-015-0066-7</u>
- Kirk, S. A., & Hutchins, H. (1994). The myth of the reliability of DSM. *The Journal of Mind and Behavior*, *15*(1 and 2), 71–86.
- Ko, C. H., Hsiao, S., Liu, G. C., Yen, J. Y., Yang, M. J., & Yen, C. F. (2010). The characteristics of decision making, potential to take risks, and personality of college students with Internet addiction. *Psychiatry Research*, 175, 121–125.
- Ko, C-H., Liu, G-C., Hsiao, S., Yen, J-Y., Yang, M-J., Lin, W-C., Yen, C-F., & Chen, C-S.
 (2009). Brain activities associated with gaming urge of online gaming addiction. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 43(7), 739–747.

- Ko, C. H., Yen, J. Y., Chen, C. C., Chen, S. H., Wu, K. Y., & Yen, C. F. (2006). Tridimensional personality of adolescents with Internet addiction and substance use experience. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 51, 887–894.
- Ko, C-H., Yen, J-Y., Yen, C-F., Lin, H-C., & Yan, M-J. (2007). Factors predictive for incidence and remission of internet addiction in young adolescents: A prospective study.
 CyberPsychology & Behavior 10(4), 545–551. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2007.9992</u>
- Koo, H. J., & Kwon, H-J. (2014). Risk and protective factors of internet addiction: A meta-analysis of empirical studies in Korea. *Yonsei Medical Journal*, 55(6), 1691–1711. http://dx.doi.org/10.3349/ymj.2014.55.6.1691
- Korkeila, J., Kaarlas, S., Jääskeläinen, M., Vahlberg, T., & Taiminen, T. (2010). Attached to the web – harmful use of the internet and its correlates. *European Psychiatry*, 25(4), 236–241.
- Kuss, D. J., Griffiths, M. D., & Binder, J. F. (2013). Internet addiction in students: prevalence and risk factors. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29(3), 959–966.
- Kuss, D. J., Griffiths, M. D., Karila, L, & Billieux, J. (2014). Internet addiction: Aa systematic review of epidemiological research for the last decade. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 20, 4026.
- Kuss, D. J., & Lopez-Fernandez, O. (2016). Internet addiction and problematic internet use: A systematic review of clinical research. World Journal of Psychiatry, 6(1), 143–176. <u>http://doi.org/10.5498/wjp.v6.i1.143</u>
- Kuss, D. J., van Rooij, A. J., Shorter, G. W., Griffiths, M. D., & van de Mheen, D. (2013).
 Internet addiction in adolescents: Prevalence and risk factors. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29, 1987–1996. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2013.04.002</u>

- Laconi, S., Rodgers, R. F., & Chabrol, H. (2014). The measurement of Internet addiction: A critical review of existing scales and their psychometric properties. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 14, 190–202. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.09.026</u>
- Lam, L. T., Peng, Z. W., Mai, J. C., & Jing, J. (2009). Factors associated with internet addiction among adolescents. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 12(5), 551–555.
- Landers, R. N., & Lounsbury, J. W. (2006). An investigation of big five and narrow personality traits in relation to internet use. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 22, 283–293. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2004.06.001</u>
- Leavy, P. (2017). *Research design: Quantitative, qualitative, mixed methods, arts-based, and community-based participatory research approaches.* The Guilford Press.
- Lee, J., Hwang, J. Y., Park, S. M., Jung, H. Y., Choi, S-W., Kim, D. J., Lee, J-Y., & Choi, J-S. (2014). Differential resting-state EEG patterns associated with comorbid depression in internet addiction. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 50, 21-26.
- Leung, L. (2007). Stressful life events, motives for internet use, and social support among digital kids. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, *10*, 204–214.
- Li, S., & Chung, T. (2006). Internet function and internet addictive behavior. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 22, 1067–1071. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2004.03.030</u>
- Lin, M. P., Ko, H. C., & Wu, J. Y. W. (2011). Prevalence and psychosocial risk factors associated with internet addiction in a nationally representative sample of college students in Taiwan. *CyberPsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 14*(12), 741–746. <u>http://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2010.0574</u>

- Lin, F., Zhou, Y., Du, Y., Qin, L., Zhao, Z., Xu, J., & Lei, H. (2012). Abnormal white matter integrity in adolescents with internet addiction disorder: A tract-based spatial statistics study. <u>http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030253</u>
- Lo, S., Wang, C., & Fang, W. (2005). Physical interpersonal relationships and social anxiety among online game players. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 8(1), 15–20.
- Longstreet, P., & Brooks, S. (2017). Life satisfaction: A key to managing internet & social media addiction. *Technology in Society*, *50*, 73–77.
- Lopez-Fernandez, O. (2015). How has internet addiction research evolved since the advent of internet gaming disorder? An overview of cyberaddictions from a psychological perspective. *Current Addiction Reports*, 2, 263–271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40429-015-0067-6</u>
- McCrae, R. R., & Costa, P. T. (1994). The stability of personality: Observation and evaluations. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *3*, 173–175.
- Meerkerk, G. J., van den Eijnden, R. J. J. M., Franken, I. H. A., & Garretsen, H. F. L. (2010). Is compulsive internet use related to sensitivity to reward and punishment, and impulsivity? *Computers in Human Behavior*, 26, 729–735. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2010.01.009
- Mitchell, P. (2000). Internet addiction: Genuine diagnosis or not. The Lancet, 355, 632.
- Montag, C., Jurkiewicz, M., & Reuter, M. (2010). Low self-directedness is a better predictor for problematic Internet use than high neuroticism. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 26, 1531–1535.
- Montag C., & Reuter M. (2017). Molecular genetics, personality, and internet addiction revisited. In: C. Montag & M. Reuter (Eds.), *Internet addiction: Studies in neuroscience*,

psychology and behavioral economics (pp. 141-160). Springer.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-46276-9.

- Morahan-Martin, J. (2005). Internet abuse: addiction? disorder? symptom? alternative explanations? *PLoS ONE*, *6*(2), 1–5. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0014703
- Morahan-Martin, J., & Schumacher, P. (2000). Incidence and correlates of pathological internet use among college students. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 16, 13–29. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0747-5632(99)00049-7
- Müller, K. W., Beutel, M. E., & Wölfing, A. (2014). A contribution to the clinical characterization of internet addiction in a sample of treatment seekers: Validity of assessment, severity of psychopathology, and type of comorbidity. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 55, 770–777. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2014.01.010</u>
- Müller, K. W., Koch, A., Dickenhorts, U., Beutel, M. E., Duven, E, & Wölfing, A. (2013).
 Addressing the question of disorder-specific risk factors of internet addiction: A comparison of personality traits in patients with addictive behaviors and comorbid internet addiction. *BioMed Research International*, 2013, 1–7.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2013/546342

Musetti, A., Corsano, P., Boursier, V., & Schimmenti, A. (2020). Problematic internet use in lonely adolescents: The mediating role of detachment from parents. *Clinical Neuropsychiary*, 17(1), 3–10. https://doi.org/10.36131/clinicalnpsych20200101

National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA). (2019). States in which marijuana is legal for medical or recreational use. https://archives.drugabuse.gov/blog/post/how-legal-marijuana

- Odaci, H., & Cikrikci, O. (2014). Problematic internet use in terms of gender, attachment styles and subjective well-being in university students. *Computers in Human Behavior, 32*, 61–66. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2013.11.019</u>
- Oktan, V. (2011). The predictive relationship between emotion management skills and Internet addiction. *Social Behavior and Personality*, *39*(10), 1425–1430. http://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.2011.39.10.1425
- Osada, H. (2013). Internet addiction in japanese college students: Is japanese version of internet addiction test (JIAT) useful as a screening tool? *Bulletin of Senshu University School of Human Sciences*, *3*(1), 71–80.
- Palan, S., & Schitter, C. (2018). Prolific.ac A subject pool for online experiments. *Journal of behavioral and Experimental finance*, 17, 22–27.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbef.2017.12.004

- Paolacci, G., & Chandler, J. (2014). Inside the Turk: Understanding mechanical turk as a participant pool. *Current directions in psychological science*, 23(3), 184–188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbef.2017.12.004</u>
- Peer, E., Brandimarte, L., Samat, S., & Acquisti, A. (2017). Beyond the turk: Alternative platforms for crowdsourcing behavioral research. *Journal of experimental social psychology*, 70, 153–163. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2017.01.006</u>
- Petry, N. M., Rehbein, F., Gentile, D., Lemmens, J., Rumpf, H. J., Mößle, T., Bischof, G., Tao,
 R., Fung, D. S. S., Borges, G., Auriacombe, M., <u>Ibáñez</u>, A. G., Tam, P., & O'Brien, C. P. (2014). An international consensus for assessing internet gaming disorder using the new DSM-5 approach. *Addiction*, 109,1399–1406.

- Petry, N. M., Zajak, K., & Ginley, M. K. (2018). Behavioral addictions as mental disorders: To be or not to be? *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 14, 399–423. <u>http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032816-045120</u>
- Pratarelli, M., Browne, B., & Johnson, K. (1999). The bits and bytes of computer/internet addiction: A factor analytic approach. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 31*(2), 305–314. <u>http://doi.org/10.3758/BF03207725</u>

Prolific Academic Researcher Terms of Service (n.d.) https://www.prolific.co/assets/docs/Researcher_Terms.pdf

- Rahmani, S., & Lavasani, M. G. (2011). The relationship between internet dependency with sensation seeking and personality. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 30, 272–277. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.10.054</u>
- Rahmani, F., Moghaddam, H. S., & Aarabi, M. H. (2019). Microstructural changes and internet addiction behaviour: A preliminary diffusion MRI study. *Addictive Behaviors*, 98, 1–6. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.106039</u>
- Rasmussen, K. B. (2017). Data quality in online environments. In N. G. Fielding, R. M. Lee, &G. Blank (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook of online research methods*, (2nd ed., pp. 37–53).

Regier, D. A., Narrow, W. E., Kuhl, E. A., & Kupfer, D. J. (2009). The conceptual development of the DSM-V. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 166(6), 645–650. http://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.09020279.

Roberts, E. H., & Yates, W. (1975). Altair mini computer part 1: The most powerful mini computer project ever presented, for under \$400. *Popular Electronics*, 7(1), 33–38.
 <u>https://www.americanradiohistory.com/Archive-Poptronics/70s/1975/Poptronics-1975-01.pdf</u>

Schimmenti, A., Musetti, A., Costanzo, A., Terrone, G., Maganuco, N. R., Rinella, C. A., & Gervasi, A. M. (2019). The unfabulous four: Maladaptive personality functioning, insecure attachment, dissociative experiences, and problematic internet use among young adults. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-019-00079-0

- Schimmenti, A., Passanisi, A., Caretti, V., La Marca, L., Granieri, A., Iacolino, C., Gervasi, A.
 M. Maganuco, N. R., & Billieux, J. (2017). Traumatic experiences alexithymia, and internet addiction symptoms among late adolescents: A moderated mediation analysis. *Addictive Behaviors*, 64, 314–320. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2015.11.002</u>
- Schimmenti, A., Passanisi, A., Gervasi, A. M., Manzella, S., & Fama, F. I. (2014). Insecure attachment attitudes in the onset of problematic internet use among late adolescents. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 45(5), 588–595.

http://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-013-0428-0

- Scherer, K. (1997). College life on-line: Healthy and unhealthy internet use. *Journal of College Student Development, 38*(6), 655–665.
- Severinoa, S., & Craparob, G. (2013). Internet addiction, attachment styles, and social self-efficacy. *Global Journal of Psychology Research*, *3*(1), 9–16.
- Shaffer, H. J. (1986). Conceptual crises and the addictions: A philosophy of science perspective. Journal of Substance Abuse and Treatment, 13, 387–404.
- Shallis, M. (1984). *The silicon idol: The micro revolution and its social implications*. Oxford University Press.
- Shotten, M. A. (1991). The costs and benefits of computer addiction. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, *10*(3), 291–230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01449299108924284</u>

- Siomos, K. E., Dafouli, E. D., Braimiotis, D. A., Mouzas, O. D., & Angelopoulos, N. V. (2008). Internet addiction among greek adolescent students. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 11(6), 653–657.
- Song, I., Larose, R., Eastin, M., & Lin, C. (2004). Internet gratification and internet addiction: On the uses and abuses of new media. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, *7*, 384–394.
- Starcevic, V., & Aboujaoude, E. (2017). Internet addiction: Reappraisal of an increasingly inadequate concept. *CNS Spectrums*, 22, 7–13.

http://doi.org/10.1017/S1092852915000863

- Starcevik, V., & Khazaal, Y. (2017). Relationships between behavioural addictions and psychiatric disorders: What is known and what is yet to be learned? *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 8(53). <u>http://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00053</u>
- Teddlie, C., & Tashakkori, A. (2009). *Mixed methods research: Integrating quantitative and qualitative approaches in the social and behavioral sciences*. SAGE.
- Terry, G., Hayfield, N., Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2017). Thematic analysis. In C. Willig & W.
 Stainton-Rogers, *The SAGE handbook of qualitative research in psychology* (2nd ed., pp. 17–36). SAGE.
- Te Wildt, B. T., Putzig, I., Drews, M., Lampen-Imkamp, S., Zedler, M., Weise, B., Dillo, W., & Ohlmeier, M. D. (2010). Pathological internet use and psychiatric disorders: A cross-sectional study on psychiatric phenomenology and clinical relevance of internet dependency. *European Journal of Psychiatry*, 24, 136–145.

http://doi.org/10.4321/S0213-616320100002

- The Management of Substance Use Disorders Work Group (MSUDWG). (December, 2015). VA/DoD Clinical practice guideline for the management of substance use disorders. https://www.healthquality.va.gov/guidelines/MH/sud?VADODSUDCPGRevised22216.pdf
- Velezmoro, R., Lacefield, K., & Roberti, J. (2010). Perceived stress, sensation seeking, and college students' abuse of the Internet. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 26(6), 1526–1530. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2010.05.020
- Volkow, N. D., Koob, G. F., & McLellan, A. T. (2016.) Neurobiologic advances from the brain disease model of addiction. *The New England Journal of Medicine*,374(4), 363–371. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1511480
- Volkow, N. D., & Morales, M. (2015). The brain on drugs: From reward to addiction. *Cell*, *162*, 712–725. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.07.046</u>
- Volkow, N. D., Wang, G. J., Fowler, J. S., & Tomasi, D. (2012). Addiction circuitry in the human brain. Annual Review of Pharmacological Toxicology, 52, 321–336.
- Wakefield, J. C. (2017). Addiction and the concept of disorder, part 1: Why addiction is a medical disorder. *Neuroethics*, *10*, 39–53. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s12152-016-9300-9</u>
- Wallis, D. (January 13, 1997). Just click no. *The New Yorker*. https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/1997/01/13/just-click-no
- Wang, L., Shen, H., Lei, Y., Zeng, L-L., Cao, F., Su, L., Yang, Z., Yao, S., & Hu, D. (2017).
 Altered default mode, fronto-parietal and salience networks in adolescents with internet addiction. *Addictive Behaviors*, 70, 1–6. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.01.021</u>
- Weekers, L., Hutsebaut, J., & Kamphuis, J. H. (2018). The level of personality functioning brief form 2.0: Update of a brief instrument for assessing level of functioning. *Personality and Mental Health*, 13, 3–14. <u>http://doi.org/10.1002/pmh.1434</u>

- Weinstein, A., Dorani, D., Elhadif, R., Bukovza, Y., Yarmulnik, A., & Dannon, P., (2015).
 Internet addiction is associated with social anxiety in young adults. *Annals of Clinical Psychiatry*, 27(1), 2–7. <u>http://doi.org/10.1093/med/9780199380183.003.0001</u>
- Weinstein, A., & Lejoyeux, M. (2010). Internet addiction or excessive internet use. American Journal of of Drug and Alcohol Abuse, 36(5), 277–283. http://doi.org/10.3109/00952990.2010.491880
- Weiser, E. (2001). Gender differences in internet use patterns and internet application preferences. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, *4*, 723–743.
- Whang, L., Lee, S., & Chang, G. (2003). Internet over-users' psychological profiles: A behavior sampling analysis on internet addiction. *CyberPsychology and Behavior*, 6(2), 143–150.
- Widyanto, L., & Griffiths, M. (2006). 'Internet addiction': A critical review. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, *4*, 31–51.
- Widyanto, L., & McMurran, M. (2004). The psychometric properties of the internet addiction test. *CyberPsychology and Behavior*, 7(4), 443–450. http://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2004.7.443
- Wölfling, K., Beutel, M. E., Dreier, M., & Müller, K. W. (2015). Bipolar spectrum disorders in a clinical sample of patients with internet addiction: Hidden comorbidity or differential diagnosis? *Journal of Behavioral Addiction*, 4(2), 101–105.

http://doi.org/10.1556/2006.4.2015.011

Wölfling, K., Beutel, M. E., Koch, A., Dickenhorst, U., & Müller, K. W. (2013). Comorbid internet addiction in male clients of inpatient addiction rehabilitation centers: Psychiatric symptoms and mental comorbidity. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 201*, 934–940. <u>http://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.00000000000035</u>

 World Health Organization (WHO). (1992). The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders: Clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization.

- World Health Organization (2019). International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems, 11th revision (ICD-11). Geneva: Author. Retrieved from: https://icd.who.int/browse11/l-m/en
- Xu, S. H. (2012). Internet addicts' behavior Impulsivity: Evidence from the Iowa gambling task. *Acta Psychologica Sinica, 44*, 1523–1534.

http://dx.doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1041.2012.01523.

- Yan, W., Li, Y., & Sui, N. (2014). The relationship between recent stressful life events, personality traits, perceived family functioning, and internet addiction among college students. *Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress, 30*(1), 3–11. http://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2490
- Yang, X., Zhu, L., Chen, Q., Song, P., & Wang, Z. (2016). Parent marital conflict and Internet addiction among Chinese college students: The mediating role of father-child, mother-child, and peer attachment. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 59, 221–229.
- Yoo, H., Cho, S., & Ha, J. (2004). Attention deficit hyperactivity symptoms and Internet addiction. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 58, 487–494.
- Young, K. S. (1996a). Internet addiction: The emergence of a new clinical disorder. 104th annual meeting of the American Psychological Association; August 11 1996; Toronto, Canada.
- Young, K. S.(1996b). Internet addiction: The emergence of a new clinical disorder. *CyberPsychology and[Behavior*, 1(3), 237–244.

Young, K. S. (1998). Caught in the Net. Wiley.

Young, K. S. (1998). Internet addiction: The emergence of a new clinical disorder. *CyberPsychology & Behavior, 1*(1), 237–244.

- Young, K. S. (2004). Internet addiction: A new clinical phenomenon and its consequences. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 48, 402–415.
- Young, K. S. (2009). Internet addiction. American Behavioral Scientist, 4, 402–415.
- Young, K. S. (2013). Treatment outcomes using CBT-IA with Internet-addicted patients. *Journal* of Behavioral Addictions, 2(4), 209–215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1556/JBA.2.2013.4.3</u>

Young, K. S. (2017a). Internet addiction test (IAT). Stoelting.

- Young, K. S. (2017b). The evolution of internet addiction. *Addictive Behaviors*, 64, 229–230. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2015.05.016
- Young, K. S. (2017c). The evolution of internet addiction disorder. In C. Montag & M. Reuter (Eds.) *Internet addiction: Studies in neuroscience, psychology and behavioral economics* (pp. 129–548).
- Young, K., & Abreu, C. (2011). Internet addiction. A handbook and guide to evaluation and treatment. John Wiley & Sons.
- Yuan, K., Qin, W., Wang, G. Zeng, F., Zhao, L., Yang, X., Liu, P., Liu, J., Sun, J., von Deneen,
 K. M., Gog, Q., Liu, Y., & Tian, J. (2011). Microstructure abnormalities in adolescents with internet addiction disorder. *PLoS ONE*, 6(6), e20707.

http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0020708

Zhou, Y., Li, D., Jia, J., Li, X., Zhao, L., & Sun, W. (2017). Interparental conflict and adolescent internet addiction: The mediating role of emotional insecurity and the moderating role of big five personality traits. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 73, 470–478. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.04.012</u>

- Zois, E., Kiefer, F., Lemenager, T., Vollstadt-Klein, S., Mann, K., & Fauth-Buhler, M. (2017).
 Frontal cortex gray matter volume alterations in pathological gambling occur independently from substance use disorder. *Addiction Biology*, 22(3), 864–872.
- Zhu, Y., Zhang, H., & Tian, M. (2015). Molecular and functional imaging of internet addiction. BioMed Research Internationa.

APPENDIX A

Copyright Attribution and Permissions

Internet Addiction Test (IAT)

Stoelting | 620 Wheat Lane | Wood Dale, IL 60191 E: bsyadek@stoeltingco.com | www.stoeltingco.com P: 630-860-9700 F: 630-860-9775

AGREEMENT FOR USE OF ASSESSMENT MATERIALS IN RESEARCH STUDY

2/25/2020

1

= Stoelting

Lori Woehler Doctoral student, Antioch University Seattle 2758 78* Ave SE Apt C202 Mercer Island, WA 98040 Advisor: Chris Heffner, PhD, PsyD

("RESEARCHER") is hereby granted permission to administer the Internet Addiction Test (IAT), authored by Kimberley Young, Ph.D. ("LICENSE MATERIALS"), for research purposes, by Stoelting ("STOELTING"), holder of the copyright for LICENSE MATERIALS. RESEARCHER will administer LICENSE MATERIALS to participants enrolled in a research study, titled INTERNET ADDICTION AND THE RELATIONSHIP TO SELF AND INTERPERSONAL FUNCTIONING WITHIN THE ALTERNATIVE MODEL OF PERSONALITY DISORDER (AMPD) ("STUDY"), conducted by RESEARCHER. STUDY will take place from March 15, 2020 to June 30, 2020.

This License Agreement ("AGREEMENT") covers the use of the LICENSE MATERIALS, for the above STUDY, with the following provisions:

- RESEARCHER will not make changes to LICENSE MATERIALS in any way. The Internet Addiction Test (IAT) will be administered to a select group of study participants recruited through the Prolific research platform, assigned unique individual identifiers, and connected through a secure electronic interface through which they will be presented each item individually; responses will be submitted and registered prior being presented subsequent items.
- RESEARCHER will not post LICENSE MATERIALS online or distribute beyond the bounds of the STUDY.
- LICENSE MATERIALS may be distributed to regulatory authorities, Internal Review Boards, and research advisors. The LICENSE MATERIALS may not be sold, and may only be used for research purposes.
- In the process of administering the LICENSE MATERIALS, the following provisions will apply:

- a. RESEARCHER HAS ALREADY PURCHASED hard copy of LICENSE MATERIALS, which consists of one manual, which allows for unlimited paper reproduction of forms contained in test, and unlimited administration. Thus, RESEARCHER is free to make as many copies of LICENSE MATERIALS' record forms as is necessary for study.
- b. RESEARCHER will ensure that the translated LICENSE MATERIALS will be accessible only to participants in the STUDY, who have properly completed protocols for becoming participants, in accordance with RESEARCHER's applicable regulatory body's Code of Ethics, including having completed informed consent forms.
- c. RESEARCHER HAS ALREADY PURCHASED one copy of LICENSE MATERIALS for each SITE in which research is intended to be conducted. A SITE is defined as a location where a hard-copy manual would typically be required to reproduce paper forms. For example if testing occurs at two different universities, that would constitute two sites because forms couldn't easily be reproduced at both sites from the same manual. On the other hand if testing is conducted in two different rooms in the same building, that is considered one site, because researchers could easily make copies and share them in-person.
- 5) This permission is exclusive, and requires that LICENSE MATERIALS not be distributed or sold. The materials may only be used and provided to third parties for use in the above-mentioned STUDY, unless prior authorization from the copyright holder is obtained. Except as provided within this AGREEMENT, no part of LICENSE MATERIALS protected by this copyright notice may be reproduced, or utilized in any form, or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without the permission of this copyright.
- 6) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this AGREEMENT, all results obtained in connection with the administration of the LICENSE MATERIALS shall be the sole and exclusive property of the RESEARCHER, to be used for any purpose.
- RESEARCHER shall submit one finished and published copy of research conducted with LICENSE MATERIALS in STUDY.
- STOELTING hereby represents and warrants that the LICENSE MATERIALS do not infringe the intellectual property rights of any third party.
- 9) RESEARCHER will obtain a complete IAT Test from STOELTING._
- 10) The total charge for this permission is \$0 (RESEARCHER HAS ALREADY PURCHASED IAT TEST KIT). An accounting of the charges is as follows:

2

11) RESEARCHER will submit LICENSE FEES via N/A

12) Additional permission may be obtained by formal application to Stoelting Co. Permission Granted by: RESEARCHER:

March 5, 2020

Date

Fran Agydt

Brian Syzdek, Psy.D. (signature)

20 Date

RESEARCHER (signature)

Product Manager Psychology

Stoelting Co.

Date

Lori L. Woehler

Date

Chris Heffner, Ph.D., Psy.D.

FACULTY ADVISOR (signature)

Level of Personality Functioning – Brief Form version 2.0

Laura Weekers <Laura.Weekers@deviersprong.nl>

Sun, Feb 23, 11:23 PM

to <u>lwoehler@antioch.edu</u>

Hi Lori,

Thank you for your interest in the LPFS-BF 2.0! You have our permission to use the instrument in your dissertation research.

Kind regards,

Laura Weekers Psycholoog & Junior onderzoeker Bergen op Zoom

Van: Lori Woehler <<u>lwoehler@antioch.edu</u>> Verzonden: vrijdag 21 februari 2020 22:50 Aan: Laura Weekers <<u>Laura.Weekers@deviersprong.nl</u>> Onderwerp: Request - LPFS-BF 2.0 Hello Laura,

I am a fourth-year doctoral student of clinical psychology working on my dissertation research to explore the relationships between internet addiction and levels of personality functioning based on the DSM-5 AMPD.

I am contacting you to request permission to administer the LPFS-BF 2.0 to the participants in my study. This use would not involve publication of the measure, and all use would be appropriately cited in the study.

I look forward to your response and would be pleased to answer any questions you may have about my research.

Best regards,

Lori Woehler <u>lwoehler@antioch.edu</u> (425)785-1553

APPENDIX B

Informed Consent

You are invited to participate in a research study. The purpose of this research study is to explore the relationships between internet use and self and interpersonal functioning. You are being asked to participate because you are an internet user. If you participate in this research, you will be asked to complete a brief survey about your internet activities, personal beliefs, and behaviors. You will be asked to provide demographic information about your date of birth, gender, employment, socio-economic status, and your attitudes about your internet use and status.

Potential risks of participating in this study might involve physical discomfort due to lack of movement while completing the study. Your participation will take approximately 10 minutes. Compensation is provided in accordance with the terms of the Prolific research platform. Your participation in this research is strictly voluntary. You may refuse to participate entirely, or choose to stop your participation at any point in the research, without fear of penalty or negative consequences of any kind.

The information/data you provide for this research will be treated confidentially, and all raw data will be deidentified by the Prolific research platform prior to receipt by the principal investigator. Results of the research will be reported as aggregate summary data only, and no individually identifiable information will be presented. Privacy and confidentiality of individually identifiable information is provided by the Prolife research platform. You also have the right to review the results of the research if you wish to do so. A copy of the results may be obtained by contacting the principal investigator: Lori Woehler

lwoehler@antioch.edu

Your direct personal benefits from your participation in this research included compensation for your time and participation as a member of the Prolific research platform. The results of the research may contribute to ongoing efforts to understand problematic internet use or to society as a whole.

I understand that this research has been reviewed and Certified by the Institutional Review Board, Antioch University, Seattle. For research-related problems or questions regarding participants' rights, I can contact Antioch University's Institutional Board Chair, Mark Russell, PhD at <u>mrussell@antioch.edu</u>. The primary researcher conducting this study is Lori Woehler, MA doctoral student of clinical psychology under the research supervision of Chris Heffner, Ph.D., Psy.D. If you have questions later, you may contact Lori Woehler at

lwoehler@antioch.edu

I have read and understand the information explaining the purpose of this research and my rights and responsibilities as a participant. By clicking the accept button below, I give my consent to participate in this research study, according to the terms and conditions outlined above.